
 

1 

 
 

AGENDA 
MIDDLESEX-LONDON BOARD OF HEALTH 

 
Thursday, September 17, 2020, 6:30 p.m. 
Citi Plaza Boardroom and Microsoft Teams 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  
 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
 

MINUTES 
 

Approve:  July 16, 2020  Board of Health 

 July 29, 2020 Special Meeting of the Board of Health 

 September 10, 2020 Special Meeting of the Board of Health 

 

Receive: September 10, 2020 Finance & Facilities Committee 

 

  

 

 

 

MISSION - MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

The mission of the Middlesex-London Health Unit is to promote and protect the health of our 

community. 

 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH 
 

Ms. Maureen Cassidy (Chair) 

Ms. Aina DeViet (Vice-Chair) 

Mr. John Brennan 

Ms. Kelly Elliott 

Ms. Tino Kasi   

Ms. Arielle Kayabaga 

Mr. Ian Peer  

Mr. Bob Parker 

Mr. Matt Reid        

 

SECRETARY-TREASURER  
 

Dr. Christopher Mackie 



 

2 

Ite
m

 #
 

D
e

le
g

a
tio

n
 

R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

tio
n

 

In
fo

rm
a

tio
n

 

 
Report Name and Number 

 
 

 

 
Link to 

Additional 
Information 

 
 

Overview and Lead 
 
 

Reports and Agenda Items 

1. X X X 

Finance & Facilities Committee 

September 10, 2020  

Meeting Summary 

 

(Report No. 040-20) 

September 10, 2020 

Agenda 

 

Minutes 

To provide an update of the September 

10, 2020 Finance & Facilities 

Committee meeting. 

 

Lead: Ms. Kelly Elliott, Chair, Finance 

& Facilities Committee 

2.   X 

Monitoring Impacts of the 

COVID-19 Pandemic and Related 

Public Health Measures 

 

(Report No. 041-20) 

Appendix A 

 

Appendix B 

To provide an update on the monitoring 

of population-level indicators to enable 

the Health Unit to assess the impact of 

the pandemic and its related public 

health measures on the health and well-

being of the Middlesex-London 

community, and help inform policy and 

decision-making. 

 

Lead: Dr. Alexander Summers, 

Associate Medical Officer of Health 

3.   X 

COVID-19 Surveillance Testing 

on Farms  

 

(Report No. 042-20) 

 

To provide an update on the recent  
surveillance testing of migrant farm 

workers (MFWs) for COVID-19 

over the summer months. 

 

Lead: Dr. Alexander Summers, 

Associate Medical Officer of Health 

4. 
 

  X 

 

Update on Provincial COVID-19 

Case and Contact Management 

(CCM) System 

 

(Report No. 043-20) 

 

To provide an update on the June 2020 

Ontario Ministry of Health 

implementation of a new case and 

contact management (CCM) solution 

for public health units (PHUs) to 

manage and report on COVID-19 cases 

and contacts, replacing the use of the 

existing provincial infectious disease 

information system (iPHIS). 

 

Lead: Dr. Alexander Summers, 

Associate Medical Officer of Health 

5.   X 
COVID-19 Update (verbal) 

 

 

 

To provide an update on COVID-19 

related items. 

 



 

3 

 
OTHER BUSINESS  
 

• Next Board of Health Meeting: October 15, 2020 

 
CONFIDENTIAL 
 
The Board of Health will move in-camera to consider matters regarding labour relations, identifiable 

individuals and advice that is subject to solicitor-client privilege, including communications necessary for 

that purpose, and to consider matters regarding a trade secret or financial information, supplied in confidence 

to the local board, which if disclosed, could reasonably be expected to prejudice significantly the competitive 

position or interfere significantly with contractual or other negotiations of a person, group of persons or 

organization, and a trade secret or financial information that belongs to the municipality or local board and 

has monetary value.  

 

 
ADJOURNMENT   
 
 
 

Lead: Dr. Alexander Summers, 

Associate Medical Officer of Health 

and Dr. Christopher Mackie, Medical 

Officer of Health 

6.   X 
MOH Activity Report – September 

 

(Report No. 044-20) 

 

To provide an update on external 

meetings attended by the Medical 

Officer of Health since the last Board of 

Health meeting. 

 

Lead: Dr. Christopher Mackie, Medical 

Officer of Health 

Correspondence 

7.   X September 2020 Correspondence   
To receive correspondence items a) 

through j) for information. 



PUBLIC SESSION – MINUTES 
MIDDLESEX-LONDON BOARD OF HEALTH 

 
Thursday, July 16, 2020, 6:30 p.m. 

 
Webinar – Microsoft Teams and MLHU Boardroom 

 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:     Ms. Maureen Cassidy (Chair) 

    Ms. Aina DeViet (Vice-Chair)  

    Mr. John Brennan 

Ms. Kelly Elliott  

Ms. Tino Kasi  

Ms. Arielle Kayabaga  

Mr. Bob Parker 

Mr. Ian Peer 

Mr. Matt Reid 

      

REGRETS:   Ms. Tino Kasi 

 

OTHERS PRESENT:  Dr. Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health (Secretary 

  Treasurer) 

   Ms. Svetlana Mutlak, Executive Assistant, Healthy Organization 

(Recorder) 

   Dr. Alexander Summers, Associate Medical Officer of Health 

   Dr. Michael Clarke, CEO (Interim) 

   Ms. Maureen Rowlands, Director, Healthy Living   

   Mr. Stephen Turner, Director, Environmental Health and Infectious 

Disease 

   Ms. Heather Lokko, Director, Healthy Start and Chief Nursing 

Officer 

   Ms. Nicole Gauthier, Acting Director, Healthy Organization, 

Manager, Privacy and Risk Management 

Mr. Dan Flaherty, Manager, Communications 

Ms. Elizabeth Milne, Executive Assistant to the Board of Health and 

Communications Coordinator 

   Mr. Alex Tyml, Online Communications Coordinator 

   Mr. Joe Belancic, Manager, Procurement and Operations 

   Mr. Jeff Cameron, Manager, IT 

   Mr. Brian Glasspoole, Manager, Finance 

   Mr. Jordan Banninga, Manager, Program Planning and Evaluation 

   Ms. Mary Lou Albanese, Manager, Infectious Disease Control 

    

    

Chair Cassidy called the meeting to order at 6:31 p.m. 

 

DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

 

Chair Cassidy inquired if there were any disclosures of conflicts of interest. None were declared. 

 

  

 



Public Session                                                            - 2 -                                         2020 July 16 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

It was moved by Ms. Elliot, seconded by Ms. DeViet, that the AGENDA for the July 16, 2020 Board of 

Health meeting be approved. 

Carried 

 

MINUTES 

 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Mr. Parker, that the MINUTES of the June 18, 2020 Board of 

Health meeting be approved. 

Carried 

 

It was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Mr. Brennan, that the MINUTES of the June 25, 2020 Special 

meeting of the Board of Health be approved. 

Carried 

 

It was moved by Mr. Parker, seconded by Ms. Elliott, that the MINUTES of the June 18, 2020 

Governance Committee meeting be received. 

Carried 

 

It was moved by Ms. DeViet, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the MINUTES of the July 2, 2020 Finance and 

Facilities meeting be received. 

Carried 

 

REPORTS AND AGENDA ITEMS 

 

 

Finance and Facilities Committee Update – July 2, 2020 (Report No. 031-20)  

 

Ms. Elliott introduced the reports from the July 2, 2020 Finance and Facilities Committee meeting.  

 

2019 Draft Financial Statements (Report No. 015-20FFC) 

 

It was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the Board of Health review and approve the 

audited Financial Statements for the Middlesex-London Health Unit, December 31, 2019, as appended to 

Report No. 013-20FFC 

Carried 

 

Single Source Contract Awards (Report No. 016-20FFC) 

 

It was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Ms. DeViet, that the Board of Health receive Report No. 016-

20FFC, re: “Single Source Contract Awards” for information.  

Carried    

 

Ministry of Health Temporary Pandemic Pay Initiative (Report No. 017-20FFC) 

 

It was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Mr. Reid, that the Board of Health: 

1. Receive Report No. 017-20FFC re: “Ministry of Health Temporary Pandemic Pay Initiative”; 

 and 

2. Direct staff to receive this funding. 

       Carried 

 

  



Public Session                                                            - 3 -                                         2020 July 16 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

Discussion ensued about the following items: 

• Money for the government relating to pandemic pay for eligible employees, at a rate of $4 per 

hour. 

  

Cash Flow Analysis (Report No. 018-20FFC) 

 

The Board of Health received a verbal update on this report from Ms. Elliott and Mr. Parker. 

Ms. Elliott mentioned that this will be assessed over time along with salaries.  

 

Mr. Peer commented that this was in the media and asked if the Warden after the meeting contacted staff 

or Board members to seek clarification on this report. Mr. Peer noted that information was shared at the 

meeting and asked why this report has this been viewed as mismanagement in the media and by the 

Warden. Mr. Peer noted that he would like to know if there is a way to provide additional information to 

the County to clarify some of the question they have around this report. 

 

Mr. Peer noted that the organization has been working hard and has redeployed many staff to meet the 

demands, noting that given the work of staff at the Health Unit, it is not good for employees to hear from 

the Warden in the media that the organization is being mis-managed. All Board members look at reports 

and collectively make decisions, including the county representatives. It would be helpful if the Warden 

received the information that Board members do, including the county representatives.   

 

Ms. Cassidy noted that County Council does receive a brief summary of the motions coming out of each 

month’s Board meeting.  

 

Dr. Mackie noted that he appreciates the concerns raised with staff responding to the pandemic. Dr. 

Mackie respects the Warden’s questions presented in front of her constituents.  

 

Discussion ensued about the following items: 

• That the Health Unit’s net debt has gone down. This line of credit reduces the amount of interest 

repaying the debt overall. The line of credit is a flexible tool and a responsible approach to debt. 

• That MLHU has been managing its cash position and by using reserves and available cash, has 

been able to keep debt down by $400,000. 

 

Ms. Elliott noted that the media contacted her regarding the report. Ms. Elliot mentioned she was not able 

to complete the media request due to her schedule. She can relay the discussion to the Warden. 

 

Ms. Cassidy noted that at the FFC meeting, that overtime costs have risen, and this could not be foreseen 

due to the pandemic; the organization responded in a prudent way.  

 

Governance Committee Update (Verbal) 

 

Ms. DeViet provided an update from the Governance meeting.  

 

It was moved by Ms. DeViet seconded by Mr. Parker that the Board of Health: 

1) Receive Report No. 011-20 re: “By-Law Amendment Regarding Special Meetings”; and 

2) Approve the amendment to governance By-law #3 (Appendix A). 

Carried 

  

It was moved by Ms. DeViet seconded by Mr. Parker, that the Board of Health receive Governance 

Committee verbal update for information. 

 

Carried 

 

  

http://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2020-07-16-report-011-20-gc-appendix-a.pdf


Public Session                                                            - 4 -                                         2020 July 16 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

COVID -19 Verbal Update 

 

Dr. Mackie provided an update on recent COVID-19 related activities at MLHU, which included the 

following updates: 

• Dr. Summers has returned from Windsor-Essex County Health Unit, where he went to assist for 

two weeks.  

• As a community, the rates of COVID-19 have decreased. 

• No outbreaks institutional outbreaks currently. One small little outbreak relating to a number of 

parties. The outreach team did a great job offering resources in partnership with the COVID-19 

IMS staff, and together they contained the outbreak.  

• Staff have initiated testing on farms, which has been positive. First dozen tests came back 

negative; there has been one case since then on a farm, but not in a Temporary Foreign Worker. 

The farms have been cooperative and MLHU is making sure that the workers have the necessary 

supports in place such as WSIB and appropriate healthcare.  

• Middlesex-London has been without a facility outbreak since end of June and early July, huge 

credit to the MLHU and the entire community.  

• There have been lots of questions and suggestion around mandatory masking in Middlesex-

London, there are many other regions who have taken on the mandatory masking that have higher 

rates of COVID. There has been lots of discussion with local partners. Middlesex-London hasn’t 

implemented mandatory masking due to lower cases in Middlesex-London.  

• There have been no deaths for a long time. Dr. Summers added the province is moving into Stage 

3 starting July 17th, 2020. Middlesex-London will want to watch the rates and monitor the cases 

closely as the number of contacts with associated cases can go up with Stage 3 re-openings. 

Middlesex-London will be monitoring this over the next coming weeks.  

• Dr. Summers thanked the Board for their support of the redeployment to Windsor-Essex along 

with two public health inspectors. Ms. Cassidy thanked Dr. Summers for his work.  

 

Discussion ensued about the following items: 

• Mandatory masking and why Dr. Mackie has not issued a Section 22 Order to require this in all 

public places.    

• The low level of COVID-19 community spread in Middlesex-London. 

• The independent power of a Medical Officer of Health under the Health Protection and 

Promotion Act (HPPA) and that a Section 22 Order would not be appropriate at this time since 

there is such a low risk of spread in the community.  

• That Dr. Mackie and MLHU is watching rates closely in the community, reviewing literature and 

monitoring hospital data. There is currently no case under the HPPA to implement mandatory 

masking. 

• Ms. Elliott and Ms. Kayabaga indicated that mandatory masking should be made through public 

health by data and evidence, rather than at the political level. Additionally, MLHU represents 

more than just the City of London. Middlesex County cannot enact the by law without the support 

of each of its other municipalities. Dr. Mackie noted that he will not let the County be left behind 

in this and that he has a meeting booked to discuss this with the Warden to explain every step of 

the process.  

• Ms. Elliott stressed the need for consistency in a masking approach across the community.  

• How Section 22 Order are enforced, the fines associated with not adhering to the Order, and if 

MLHU has the capacity to support enforcement efforts. 

• That masking can reduce rates, but keeping 2 metres apart is much more effective than masking.  

• The MLHU has been working very closely with Western and Fanshawe and that discussions with 

post-secondary institutions will continue to help institutions develop guidelines as students return 

to school in the fall. 

• The equity of mandatory masking and ensuring all individuals are able to obtain or to purchase a 

mask in made mandatory.  

 



Public Session                                                            - 5 -                                         2020 July 16 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

It was moved by Mr. Reid, seconded by Mr. Parker, that the Board of Health direct the Chair to write to 

the Premier of Ontario, Minister of Health and the Chief Medical Officer of Health to advocate for a 

province-wide approach for mandatory masks, to ensure consistency across the province. 

Carried 

 

 

Ms. Kayabaga moved and Ms. Elliott seconded that: 

1) the Board of Health request the Medical Officer of Health to look to all partners to support the 

MLHU in providing masks to community members who cannot afford them; and 

2) That the MOH works with the city of London and the County to find a way forward in making this 

work across the London-Middlesex area in order to continue to be leaders in COVID-19.  

 

Significant discussion around this motion ensued. 

 

Mr. Parker commented on the motion and asked that each motion be broken down into multiple motions.  

 

Dr. Mackie apologized if past comments made it seem like he was looking for direction, and clarified the 

importance of the independent medical judgment of the Medical Officer of Health in making Section 22 

orders under the HPPA. He indicated that he will do whatever is possible and work with councils.  

 

Following discussion, Ms. Kayabaga noted that she would like to withdraw the entire motion and asked 

Dr. Mackie for comment. Dr. Mackie mentioned that he does appreciate the comments around masking 

and that the Health Unit has strong vendors for non-medical and medical masks with the City offering 

support.  

 

Mr. Brennan commented that the County has no jurisdiction and has no authority to do anything. Ms. 

Elliott commented that residents are protected regardless and looks forward to working with Dr. Mackie 

and attending the City Council meeting. Ms. Cassidy commented that there is not a consensus on this yet. 

She added that courts are hesitant to overturn orders enacted by elected officials. She also mentioned that 

the province has always taken a regional approach.  

 

Sustained COVID-19 Response and Enhancements (Report No. 032-20) 

 

Dr. Mackie introduced this report and noted the significant staff resources have been redeployed to the 

COVID-19 response and that there are other crucial Health Unit programs that need to continue as well. He 

added that Ms. Rowlands, Ms. Lokko and Ms. Di Cesare laid the foundation for this, with the work also 

including Ms. Locker, Ms. Gauthier, Dr. Clarke, Ms. Albanese, Mr. Banninga and Dr. Summers.  

 

Dr. Clarke also provided context to this report, noting his support for the program, which will enable the 

Health Unit to get back to delivering health services and a sustained COVID-19 response. Dr. Clarke added 

that the volume of work required to address COVID-19 requires an expansion of the Health Unit’s 

resources. He mentioned that this is the largest request that staff have requested from the Board, and that 

staff are optimistic that the province will provide funding for COVID-19. In the absence of the funding, 

MLHU would need to request it from the City and County partners.  

 

Dr. Summers began by speaking to the key components of this report. He noted that this report represents 

what the Health Unit will need to respond to the pandemic for the next 18-24-month time frame. This 

proposal reflects lessons learned from the first wave of the pandemic. The program responds to a tiered 

strategy with a base program and after that a gradual increase. This will allow the Health Unit to be 

prepared to respond. Dr. Summers adds that he attended a Windsor-Essex Board meeting and they have 

approved a similar proposal. 

 

  



Public Session                                                            - 6 -                                         2020 July 16 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

Discussion ensued about the following items: 

• That this is not the first time that we’re hopeful that the province will come through for the Health 

Unit with regards to funding. This leaves the door open that we may have to go to the County or 

the City if funding is not received by the province.  

• Ms. Elliott added as it relates to the funding from the City and Council, the County is in the same 

position with funding and the advocacy goes to the province. Municipalities need that funding as 

well. 

• That this program will allow us to respond to another pathogen or outbreak in the future. 

• Where funding for this program will come from, despite being needed to support this program. 

• What is the plan if MLHU cannot get additional funding for this program? 

• Certain HPPA guidelines around funding 

 

Ms. Cassidy thanked all Health Unit staff for all of the good the work they have been done to respond to 

COVID-19 in the community. 

 

It was moved by Mr. Parker, seconded by Mr. Reid, that the Board of Health: Receive Report No. 032-20 

re: “Sustained COVID-19 Response and enhancements”. 

Carried 

 

Summary Information Report (Report No. 033-20) 

 

Dr. Mackie introduced and provided context to this report. 

 

Discussion ensued about the Ontario Health Teams (OHT) and what that will look like. Dr. Mackie 

mentioned that the OHT is a great initiative and MLHU has been asked to be at the table to be involved.  

 

Ms. Lokko spoke briefly to clinical changes. She added that the report is self-explanatory. Ms. Elliott 

asked how MLHU will catch up on vaccines? Dr. Mackie added that the Senior Leadership Team is 

working together on that approach.   

 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. DeViet, that the Board of Health receive “Summary 

Information Report for June” for information. 

 

Carried 

 

CEO (Interim) Verbal Update 

 

Dr. Clarke highlighted the Public Health Modernization Report which included consultation from MLHU. 

The report was submitted in February 2020. He adds that his Vice President role shifted when the 

pandemic began. Instead, Dr. Clarke has been supporting the COVID response and how the organization 

was responding to the pandemic in real time over the months of March, April and May with the support 

of Ms. Ramer, Ms. Sangster Bouck and Ms. Di Cesare. The final draft of the report will be presented to 

the Senior Leadership Team on July 28, 2020 and shortly after to the Board. Dr. Clarke highlights that Dr. 

Mackie and himself are collaborating to understand how the new interim CEO role will roll out.  

 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. Elliott, that the Board of Health receive the CEO (Interim) 

Verbal update for information. 

Carried 

 

  



Public Session                                                            - 7 -                                         2020 July 16 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

Medical Officer of Health Activity Report for July (Report No. 034-20) 

 

Dr. Mackie introduced and provided context to this report. 

 

It was moved by Mr. Brennan, seconded by Ms. DeViet, that the Board of Health receive Report No. 034-

20 re: “Medical Officer of Health/CEO Activity Report for July” for information.  

Carried 

 

CORRESPONDENCE 

 

Dr. Mackie highlighted that item a – related to CERB – as it relates to Basic Income.   

 

Ms. Cassidy inquired if there were any questions, hearing none she asked for a mover and seconder.  

 

It was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Mr. Peer that the Board of Health receive items a) through h) for 

information and endorse item a) 

Carried 

Other Business 

 

It was moved by Ms. DeViet, seconded by Mr. Peer that the Board of Health cancel its scheduled FFC and 

Board of Health meetings in August. 

Carried 

 

Chair Cassidy noted that the next Board of Health meeting will be September 17, 2020. 

  

CONFIDENTIAL  

 

At 9:27 p.m., it was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the Board of Health move in-camera 

to consider matters regarding labour relations, identifiable individuals and advice that is subject to 

solicitor-client privilege, including communications necessary for that purpose, and to consider matters 

regarding a trade secret or financial information, supplied in confidence to the local board, which if 

disclosed, could reasonably be expected to prejudice significantly the competitive position or interfere 

significantly with contractual or other negotiations of a person, group of persons or organization, and a 

trade secret or financial information that belongs to the municipality or local board and has monetary 

value.  

Carried 

 

At 11:25 p.m.  it was moved by Ms. DeViet, seconded by Mr. Parker, that the Board of Health return to 

public session.  

Carried 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

  

At 11:25 p.m., it was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Mr. Parker, that the meeting be adjourned. 

Carried 

 

 

 

 

_________________________________   ______________________________ 

MAUREEN CASSIDY      CHRISTOPHER MACKIE 

Chair  Secretary-Treasurer 

https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2020-07-16-july-correspondence.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2020-07-16-july-correspondence.pdf


PUBLIC SESSION – MINUTES 

MIDDLESEX-LONDON BOARD OF HEALTH 
 

Thursday, July 29, 2020, 5:30 p.m. 

 
Citi Plaza Boardroom 

 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:     Ms. Maureen Cassidy (Chair) 

    Ms. Aina DeViet (Vice-Chair)  

    Mr. John Brennan 

Ms. Kelly Elliott  

Ms. Tino Kasi  

Ms. Arielle Kayabaga  

Mr. Bob Parker 

Mr. Ian Peer 

Mr. Matt Reid 

      

OTHERS PRESENT:  Dr. Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health/CEO (Secretary 

  Treasurer) 

   Ms. Lynn Guy, Executive Assistant to the Medical Officer of 

Health/CEO and Associate Medical Officer of Health (Recorder) 

   Dr. Alexander Summers, Associate Medical Officer of Health 

   Ms. Nicole Gauthier, Director (Interim), Healthy Organization 

   Mr. Stephen Turner, Director, Environmental Health and Infectious 

Disease 

   Dr. Michael Clarke, CEO (Interim) 

   Mr. Dan Flaherty, Manager, Communications 

 

Chair Cassidy called the meeting to order at 5:35 p.m. 

 

DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

 

Chair Cassidy inquired if there were any disclosures of conflicts of interest. None were declared. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

There were no public agenda items to approve.  

 

Other Business 

 

Next meeting – September 17, 2020 

  

CONFIDENTIAL  

 

At 5:35 p.m., it was moved by Ms. DeViet, seconded by Ms. Kayabaga, that the Board of Health move in-

camera to consider matters regarding labour relations, identifiable individuals and advice that is subject to 

solicitor-client privilege, including communications necessary for that purpose, and to consider a position, 

plan, procedure, criteria or instruction to be applied to any negotiations carried on or to be carried on by 

or on behalf of the municipality or local board. 

Carried 

 

  

 



Public Session                                                            - 2 -                                         2020 July 29 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

At 6:48 it was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Mr. Brennan, that the Board of Health return to public 

session.   

 Carried 

 

The Board asked Dr. Mackie to provide a public update on the Case and Contact Management Tool 

(CCM).  

 

Dr. Mackie noted that the Health Unit has developed a CCM Tool that has been adapted by 10 other 

Health Units. He also advised that Toronto Public Health and Ottawa Public Health have developed one 

of their own. The reason for this update is to advise the Board that the Province is developing a system 

that would cost in the range of $20,000,000 to develop and implement. The Health Unit’s tool cost 

approximately $95,000. All systems have the capability to upload data directly to the provincial database. 

 

The firm that the Province has hired is a US company called Salesforce.  

In comparing what MLHU has developed, and what the Province is proposing does not have all of the 

functionality, including reporting for data analysis. It is also not clear that the program will take all of the 

data that MLHU has already collected. 

 

Dr. Mackie noted that he believes three Health Units have signed up to use the Salesforce database. It is 

not known if this database is already being used in the United States to collect health data.  

 

In response to a question, Dr. Mackie noted that the Ministry is aware of the systems that London, 

Toronto and Ottawa have developed and are using.   

  

Discussion ensured in regard to the following;  

There is a risk that the data will not flow to the provincial database from the Salesforce tool.  

The $20,000,000 price tag. 

The data sharing agreement has many issues, including downloading risk from the Province to health 

units and through them to municipalities. 

The product will need further development as it is uploaded throughout the province.  

The new system will impact staff user time for training and redeployment. Some felt that this is not the 

time to introduce another new system when there are residents that need service.  

Many Board members expressed concern over going with a US company when a Canadian solution has 

been developed in London Ontario.  

 

Board members requested that speaking notes be sent in advance of Association of Municipalities of 

Ontario (AMO) to Board members to use when speaking with elected officials. It was noted that Ms. 

DeViet represents Middlesex County at AMO and will seek delegation with MPPs at the August 16th 

meeting. It was noted that copying all Health Units on correspondence would be beneficial.  

 

It was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Ms. DeViet, that the Board of Health: 

1) Receive the verbal update for information; and 

2) Direct the Chair of the Board of Health to write a letter to the Premier of Ontario, Minister of 

Health, local MPPs and copy all Ontario Health Units 

Carried 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

At 7:19 p.m., it was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. Parker, that the meeting be adjourned. 

Carried 

 

 

 



Public Session                                                            - 3 -                                         2020 July 29 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

_________________________________   ______________________________ 

MAUREEN CASSIDY      CHRISTOPHER MACKIE 

Chair  Secretary-Treasurer 



PUBLIC SESSION – MINUTES 

MIDDLESEX-LONDON BOARD OF HEALTH 
Special Meeting 

 

Thursday, September 10, 2020, 9:00 a.m. 
 

MLHU Boardroom and Microsoft Teams  
 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:     Ms. Maureen Cassidy (Chair) 

    Ms. Aina DeViet (Vice-Chair)  

    Mr. John Brennan 

Ms. Kelly Elliott  

Mr. Bob Parker 

Mr. Ian Peer 

Mr. Matt Reid 

    Ms. Tino Kasi  

 

REGRETS:   Ms. Arielle Kayabaga  

 

OTHERS PRESENT:  Dr. Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health/CEO (Secretary 

  Treasurer) 

   Ms. Lynn Guy, Executive Assistant to the Medical Officer of 

Health/CEO and Associate Medical Officer of Health (Recorder) 

   Dr. Alexander Summers, Associate Medical Officer of Health 

   Ms. Maureen Rowlands, Director, Healthy Living   

   Mr. Stephen Turner, Director, Environmental Health and Infectious 

Disease 

   Ms. Elizabeth Milne, Executive Assistant to the Board of Health and 

Communications Coordinator 

    

Chair Cassidy called the meeting to order at 9:02 a.m. 

 

DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

 

Chair Cassidy inquired if there were any disclosures of conflicts of interest. None were declared. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

It was moved by Ms. DeViet, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the AGENDA for the September 10, 2020 Board 

of Health meeting be approved. 

Carried 

 

Other Business 
 

Next meeting – October 15, 2020 

  

 

CONFIDENTIAL  

 

At 9:02 a.m., it was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the Board of Health move in-camera 

to consider matters regarding identifiable individuals.   

 

Carried 

 



Public Session                                                            - 2 -                                         2020 September 10 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

 

 

At 9:20 it was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Mr. Parker, that the Board of Health return to public 

session.   

Carried  

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

At 9:21 p.m., it was moved by Mr. Reid, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the meeting be adjourned. 

Carried 

 

 

 

_________________________________   ______________________________ 

MAUREEN CASSIDY      CHRISTOPHER MACKIE 

Chair  Secretary-Treasurer 

 

 

 

 



 

PUBLIC MINUTES 
FINANCE & FACILITIES COMMITTEE 

Middlesex-London Health Unit 
355 Wellington Street, Suite 110, London, Ontario  

Microsoft Teams Conferencing 
Thursday, September 10, 2020    9:30 a.m. 

 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:     Ms. Maureen Cassidy 

Ms. Aina DeViet 

Ms. Kelly Elliott (Chair) 

Ms. Tino Kasi  

Mr. Ian Peer 

      

OTHERS PRESENT:  Ms. Arielle Kayabaga, Board Member 

Dr. Christopher Mackie, Secretary-Treasurer 

  Dr. Alexander Summer, Associate Medical Officer of Health 

   Ms. Lynn Guy, Executive Assistant to the Medical Officer of Health 

(Recorder) 

   Dr. Michael Clarke, CEO (Interim) 

   Mr. Brian Glasspoole, Manager Finance 

   Mr. Joe Belancic, Manager Procurement and Operations 

   Mr. Mirek Pawelec, incoming Manager, Finance 

   Ms. Maureen MacCormick, Director, Healthy Living 

   Ms. Elizabeth Milne, Executive Assistant to the Board of Health and 

Communications Coordinator 

 

At 9:30 a.m., Chair Elliott called the meeting to order.       

 

 

DISCLOSURES OF CONFLICT(S) OF INTEREST 

 

Chair Elliott inquired if there were any disclosures of conflicts of interest. None were declared. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

It was moved by Ms. DeViet, seconded by Ms. Cassidy, that the AGENDA for the September 10, 2020 

Finance and Facilities Committee meeting be approved. 

Carried 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

It was moved by Mr. Peer , seconded by Ms. Cassidy, that the MINUTES of the July 2, 2020 Finance and 

Facilities Committee meeting be approved. 

Carried 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

3.1 March 31st Financial Statements (Report No. 020-20FFC) 

 

Mr. Glasspoole provided the context for this report.  

 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. Cassidy that the Finance and Facilities Committee recommend 

that the Board of Health approve the audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the Middlesex-London 

 



Public Session                                                            - 2 -                                         2020 September 10 

Finance & Facilities Committee Minutes 

 

Health Unit, March 31, 2020 as appended to Report No. 020-20FFC re: “March 31st Financial 

Statements.” 

Carried 

3.2 Q2 Financial and Factual Certificate Update (Report No. 021-20FFC) 

 

Dr. Mackie provided the introduction to this report. He noted that the report was revised to include funding 

for the development of a racism strategy.  

 

Mr. Glasspoole noted that all costs related to COVID were separated for Ministry reporting.   

 

There was a lengthy discussion in regard to the racism strategy. Dr. Mackie noted that the Health Unit is 

looking to find someone who is involved and connected in the black community. The funding will be used 

to support a temporary hire or contract consultant to be the bridge to the black community. It was noted that 

it will take time to build a strong relationship with communities. Dr. Mackie noted that the work that was 

undertaken with the indigenous community was very successful and the Health Unit hopes to build on that 

success. 

 

Further discussion included: 

Qualifications and criteria for hiring someone to start the development of a racism strategy 

The risk for tokenism – do more at the operational level to address the diversity in the organization 

Would be beneficial that the candidate has public health expertise 

Informing the Board early in the process 

This is not the strategy but one step among many 

MLHU is beginning the internal work  

MLHU is at the City of London diversity table  

The Health Unit has an important role in collecting data to understand the health inequities in our 

community 

Need to have input of the diverse community and the credibility to listen.  

 

There will be more detailed reports coming to the Board of Health  

 

Dr. Mackie shared his appreciation of the comments made by Board Members.  

 

It was moved by Ms. Kasi, seconded by Ms. Cassidy that the Finance and Facilities Committee: 

1) Receive Report No. 021-20FFC re: “Q2 Financial Update and Factual Certificate” for 

information;  

2) Approve the allocation of up to $40,000 of variance funds to support the development of a 

strategy to address anti-black racism; and 

3) Approve the allocation of variance funds, above those required to offset the agency gapping 

budget, to relocation-related expenses to a maximum of $250,000 in 2020.  

Carried 

 

3.3 Proposed 2021 PBMA Process, Criteria and Weighting (Report No. 022-20FFC) 

 

Dr. Mackie introduced this report and noted no changes to the criteria this year.  

 

There was a discussion in regard to the previously proposed 70/30 funding ratio.  

 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. DeViet that the Finance and Facilities Committee receive and 

make recommendation to the Board of Health to approve the 2021 PBMA criteria and weighting that is 

proposed in Appendix A to Report No. 022-20FFC. 

Carried 

 

3.4 Emergency Contract Award (Report No. 023-20FFC) 

http://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2020-09-10-report-22-20-ffc-appendix-a.pdf


Public Session                                                            - 3 -                                         2020 September 10 

Finance & Facilities Committee Minutes 

 

 

Mr. Belancic noted that this contract was needed for COVID related purchases on an emergency basis to 

meet ongoing care of the community.  

 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. Kasi that the Finance and Facilities Committee recommends 

the Board of Health receive Report No. 023-20FFC, re: “Emergency Contract Award” for 

information.  
 

Carried 

 

OTHER BUSINESS 

 

Next meeting: October 1, 2020 

 

CONFIDENTIAL  

 

At 10:13 am, it was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Mr. Cassidy, that the Finance and 

Facilities Committee  will move in-camera to consider matters regarding a trade secret or 

financial information, supplied in confidence to the local board, which if disclosed, could 

reasonably be expected to prejudice significantly the competitive position or interfere 

significantly with contractual or other negotiations of a person, group of persons or 

organization, and a trade secret or financial information that belongs to the municipality or 

local board and has monetary value. 
Carried 

 

At 10:34 a.m., it was moved by Ms. Cassidy, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the Finance and Facilities 

Committee return to public session. 

Carried 

 

At 10:34 a.m. the Finance and Facilities Committee returned to public session. 

 

The Committee thanked Mr. Glasspoole for his services and wished him well in retirement.  

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

At 10:35 a.m., it was moved by Ms. Cassidy, seconded by Ms. Kasi, that the meeting be adjourned. 

Carried 

 

At 10:35 a.m., Chair Elliott adjourned the meeting. 

 

 

 

 

_________________________________   ______________________________ 

KELLY ELLIOTT      CHRISTOPHER MACKIE 

Chair  Secretary-Treasurer 
 

 

 

 



 

 

                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

                                  REPORT NO. 040-20 

 
 

TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 
 

FROM: Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health  
 

DATE:  2020 September 17 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

FINANCE & FACILITIES COMMITTEE MEETING – September 10, 2020 

 

The Finance & Facilities Committee (FFC) met at 9:30 a.m. on Thursday, September 10, 2020. A 

summary of the Committee’s discussions can be found in the draft minutes. 

 

Reports Recommendations for Information and 

Board of Health Consideration 

 March 31st Financial Statements 

 

(Report No. 020-20FFC) 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. Cassidy, that the 

Finance & Facilities Committee recommend that the Board of 

Health approve the audited Consolidated Financial Statements for 

the Middlesex-London Health Unit, March 31, 2020 as appended to 

Report No. 020-20FFC. 

Carried 

Q2 Financial and Factual 

Certificate Update 

 

(Report No. 021-20FFC) 

It was moved by Ms. Kasi, seconded by Ms. Cassidy, that the 

Finance & Facilities Committee recommend that the Board of 

Health:  

 

1) Receive Report No. 021-20FFC re: “Q2 Financial Update 

and Factual Certificate” for information;  

2) Approve the allocation of up to $40,000 of variance funds 

to support the development of a strategy to address anti-

black racism; and 

3) Approve the allocation of variance funds, above those 

required to offset the agency gapping budget, to relocation-

related expenses to a maximum of $250,000 in 2020.  

           Carried 

Proposed 2021 PBMA Process, 

Criteria and Weighting 

 

(Report No. 022-20FFC) 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. Deviet, that the 

Finance & Facilities Committee receive and make recommendation 

to the Board of Health to approve the 2021 PBMA criteria and 

weighting that is proposed in Appendix A to Report No. 022-

20FFC. 

Carried 

Emergency Contract Award 

 

(Report No. 023-20FFC) 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. Cassidy, that the 

Finance & Facilities Committee recommends the Board of 

Health receive Report No. 023-20FFC, re: “Emergency 

Contract Award” for information.  
Carried 

 

 

This report was prepared by the Office of the Medical Officer of Health. 

 

 
Christopher Mackie, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC 

Medical Officer of Health  

 

https://www.healthunit.com/2020-09-10-ffc-meeting-minutes
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2020-09-10-report-20-20-ffc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2020-09-10-report-21-20-ffc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2020-09-10-report-22-20-ffc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2020-09-10-report-23-20-ffc.pdf


                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

                                    REPORT NO. 041-20 

 

 

TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 

 

FROM: Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health  

  Michael Clark, CEO (Interim) 
 

DATE:  2020 September 17 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

MONITORING IMPACTS OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC AND RELATED PUBLIC 
HEALTH MEASURES 

 

Recommendation 
 

It is recommended that Report No. 041-20 re: “Monitoring Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic and 

Related Public Health Measures” be received for information. 

 

Key Points 

• Unprecedented public health measures have been implemented to help contain and reduce morbidity and 

mortality related to COVID-19. While the measures have been important in protecting the population 

from COVID-19, they may have had positive and negative impacts on other health issues and social 

determinants of health.  

• Data will be actively monitored throughout the pandemic and beyond to assess the impact of the 

pandemic and its related public health measures on the health and well-being of the Middlesex-London 

population. 

• The information can be used to weigh the benefits and harms of the public health measures and help 

inform decisions about the delivery of public health programs and services during the pandemic. 
 
 

Background 

 

According to the World Health Organization, over 25 million cases of COVID-19 have been reported 

globally as of August 31, 2020, including over 840,000 deaths. Since the outbreak of the novel coronavirus 

was declared a global pandemic on March 10, 2020 unprecedented public health measures have been 

implemented at all levels of government (regional/municipal, provincial, federal) to help contain spread and 

reduce morbidity and mortality related to the virus (refer to Appendix A for a summary of key measures). 

While theses measures—including encouraging staying home, travel restrictions, and closures of schools and 

non-essential workplaces—have been important in protecting the population from COVID-19, they may 

have also impacted health (e.g.  social isolation, delays in seeking medical care, but also reduced vehicle 

collisions) and social determinants of health (e.g. unemployment, food insecurity, family violence). 

 

As the pandemic continues, the Health Unit will monitor available data to assess the impact of the pandemic 

and its related public health measures on the health and well-being of individuals in the Middlesex-London 

community. This information will help the Health Unit and other public health authorities weigh the benefits 

and harms of public health measures and help inform decisions about the delivery of public health programs 

and services as the pandemic continues and evolves. 

 

Current Project Status 
 

An initial list of indicators to monitor has been developed (Appendix B) that includes a broad range of 

topics such as: social determinants of health, injuries, substance use, oral health, infectious disease, 

immunization coverage, health pregnancy, and birth and early development. The indicators will be 

monitored over time in order to capture potential long-term impacts and to account for the lag in the 

  

http://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2020-09-17-report-041-20-appendix-a.pdf
http://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2020-09-17-report-041-20-appendix-b.pdf


2020 September 17 -  2  - Report No. 041-20 

 

  

availability of some data. The list of indicators may change as the pandemic evolves or as new data become 

available. 
 

Data collection and analysis are currently underway by the Population Health Assessment and Surveillance 

team. Some dashboards have already been developed to facilitate visualization of the data. Internal processes 

are being developed to ensure continued monitoring of these indicators. 

 

Preliminary findings 
 

Some preliminary findings for the Middlesex-London population: 

• Measures to reduce the spread of COVID-19 may have also reduced the spread of influenza. In the 

2019–20 influenza season, there was a 63.2% decrease in the number of influenza cases reported in 

February 2020 compared to March 2020. This is higher in comparison to the 2018–19 influenza season 

where there was a 17.4% decrease from February 2019 to March 2019.  

• Fewer emergency department (ED) visits at the peak of the pandemic. There was a 43% decrease in the 

number of ED visits in April 2020 compared to March 2020. Since May 2020, the monthly number of 

ED visits has increased to approximately 82% of the 2019 monthly average. 

• No significant change for indicators related to healthy pregnancy. For women who gave birth from 

March to July 2020, preliminary data have not shown a change in the percentage who had depression or 

anxiety during the pregnancy when compared to women who gave birth before the start of the pandemic. 

Furthermore, the preliminary data also have not shown a change in the percentage of women who 

reported any alcohol or drug use during their pregnancy. 

• Initial increase in opioid-related ED visits at the beginning of the pandemic, but no increase in deaths. 

In March 2020, there was a 37% increase in opioid-related ED visits compared to the previous month. 

However, starting in April 2020, monthly counts returned to levels observed prior to the pandemic. 

Preliminary mortality data have not shown an increase in opioid-related deaths in March and April 2020.  

 

Early unemployment data for the London census metropolitan area (CMA): 

• Significant increase in the unemployment rate. From February to June 2020, the seasonally adjusted 

unemployment rate for the London CMA increased from 4.9% to 12.6%. In July 2020, the 

unemployment rate dropped to 10.5%. 

A more comprehensive assessment of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on health and social 

determinants of health will be possible once more data become available over time.  

 

Next Steps 

 

As more data are collected and analyzed, findings will be disseminated to help inform public health 

decisions and policies. Where possible, data analysis and reporting will include consideration of particularly 

impacted sub-populations (e.g., particular age groups, vulnerable populations, race-based data).  

 

Conclusion 

 

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a major impact on our daily lives. Monitoring population-level indicators 

over time will enable the Health Unit to assess the impact of the pandemic and its related public health 

measures on the health and well-being of the Middlesex-London community, and help inform policy and 

decision-making. 

 

This report was prepared by the Incident Management System (IMS) Planning section and the Associate 

Medical Officer of Health. 

       
Christopher Mackie, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC  Michael Clarke, PhD 

Medical Officer of Health      CEO (Interim) 



2020 September 17  Report No. 041-20 

 

Appendix A: Summary of key public health measures for the COVID-19 pandemic 

1. Federal measures 

 



2020 September 17  Report No. 041-20 

 

2. Provincial measures 

 

 

  



2020 September 17  Report No. 041-20 

 

3. Local measures

 



Appendix B Report No. 041-20 

 

Appendix B: Indicators for monitoring impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and related public health 
measures (2020-08-31) 

1. Substance Use 
 Indicator Source Data time interval Time period Update period 

1 Opioid-related 
emergency 
department visits by 
type (accident, 
intentional, 
therapeutic, other) 

Ministry of Health Weekly April 1, 2017 to 
present (minus a 
2–3-week lag) 

Weekly 

2 Opioid-related 
emergency 
department visits 

Ministry of Health Monthly April 1, 2017 to 
present (minus a 
2–3-week lag) 

Monthly 

3 Opioid-related deaths 
for confirmed cases 
for which the 
Coroner’s Opioid 
Investigative Aid 
(OIA) has been 
completed 

PHO > Coroner’s 
Opioid Investigative 
Aid 

Monthly January 2019 to 
present (minus a 
~3 month lag) 

Quarterly 

PHO > Quarterly 
Public Health Unit 
Opioid-related Death 
Reports 

Quarterly (total, by age 
group, manner of 
death, by gender, by 
opioid present at death, 
by opioid directly 
contributing to death, 
by whether or not 
naloxone use by 
reported) 

2017-Q2 to 
present (minus a 
~4 month lag) 

Quarterly 

4 Probable and 
confirmed opioid-
related deaths 

PHO > Coroner’s 
Opioid Investigative 
Aid 

Monthly Most recent four 
months in which 
data are available 
(usually a ~3 
month lag) 

Quarterly 

5 Opioid-related deaths 
for confirmed cases 
for which the 
Coroner’s Opioid 
Investigative Aid 
(OIA) has been 
completed 

PHO > Quarterly 
Public Health Unit 
Opioid-related Death 
Reports 

Total summary (total, 
by manner by death, by 
gender, by age group, 
male deaths by age 
group, female deaths 
by age group, by type of 
opioid present at death, 
by type of opioid 
directly contributing to 
death) 

May 2017 to most 
recent complete 
quarter (minus a 
~4 month lag) 

Quarterly 

6 Accidental opioid-
related deaths for 
confirmed cases for 
which the Coroner’s 
Opioid Investigative 
Aid (OIA) has been 
completed 

PHO > Quarterly 
Public Health Unit 
Opioid-related Death 
Reports 

Total summary (by 
ethnicity, by living 
arrangements, by 
release from a 
correctional facility in 
past 4 weeks, by 
whether or not 
individual was at home 
at time of death, by 
whether or not another 

May 2017 to most 
recent complete 
quarter (minus a 
~4 month lag) 

Quarterly 



Appendix B Report No. 041-20 

 

individual was present 
at time of incident who 
could intervene, by 
location of death, by 
location of incident, by 
whether or not there 
was evidence of 
injection drug use, by 
whether or not there 
was a resuscitation 
attempt, by who 
attempted resuscitation 
attempt, by whether or 
not naloxone use was 
reported, by who 
attempted to use 
naloxone) 

7 Emergency 
department visits for 
substance use 
(syndromes: EOH, 
OPI, TOX) 

ACES Grouped by week December 28, 
2018 to most 
complete week 
(Sunday to 
Saturday) 

Weekly 

8 Emergency 
department visits for 
substance use 

NACRS – Intellihealth Monthly January 2015 to 
Q1 2020 

Monthly 

9 Emergency 
department visits 
related to crystal 
methamphetamines 

NACRS – Intellihealth Monthly January 2015 to 
Q1 2020 

Monthly 

2. Injuries 
 Indicator Source Data time interval Time period Update period 

1 Emergency 
department visits for 
all syndromes 

ACES Grouped by week December 28, 
2018 to most 
complete week 
(Sunday to 
Saturday) 

Weekly 

2 ED visits by syndrome ACES Grouped by week December 28, 
2018 to most 
complete week 
(Sunday to 
Saturday) 

Weekly 

Categories Syndromes Notes 

Healthy pregnancy and 
births 

• OBS = related to obstetrics 

• GYN = gynecological, bleed, hysterectomy, PID 

• NEWB = newborn 

 

Substance use • EOH = alcohol related: intoxication, addiction, 
withdrawal, end organ damage 

• OPI = opioid intoxication, addiction, overdose, 
and withdrawal 

Based on ACES’ Toxicity 
bucket 



Appendix B Report No. 041-20 

 

• TOX = toxicology: withdrawal, substance abuse, 
chemical exposure (not alcohol or opioids) 

Trauma or injury • ORTHF = non-hip fracture 

• ORTHH = fracture of the femur or hip 

• TRMVC = trauma from MVC/ATV 

• TRO = trauma from another means (e.g., fall) 

• TRW = gunshot or stab, violence, assault 

Based on ACES’ Major 
Accident or Injury 
bucket 

Other injuries • BURN = burns: chemical and thermal, electrical 
shock 

• CONC = concussion, head injury 

• FALL = undifferentiated falls 

• INJ = sprain, strain, laceration, dislocation, 
bruise, swelling 

• LAC = lacerations 

• TRS = sexual assault 

 

Mental health • MH = mental health 

• MHS = suicidal ideation (attempt or overdose) 
• SOC = social admission 

Based on ACES’ Mental 
Health bucket 

Cardiovascular disease • CAD = coronary artery disease, chest pain 

• CHF = congestive heart failure 
• CV = cardiovascular (excludes MI and strokes; 

includes peripheral vascular disease) 

Based on ACES’ 
Cardiovascular bucket 

Other chronic diseases • CARD = pericarditis, effusion, myocarditis, 
endocarditis 

• COPD = chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

• DM = diabetes, related complications 

• NEURO = dementia, Alzheimer’s, stroke, seizure, 
vertigo, syncope, fainting 

• REN = renal failure, dialysis, renal disease and 
complications 

 

Bites and ticks • BITE = human, animal, bug (not tick-related) 

• TICKS = ticks 

 

Environmental health 
effects 

• AST = asthma, wheeze, difficulty breathing, SOB 

• CO = carbon monoxide exposure or other gases 
(e.g., sulphur) 

• COPD = chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

• DEHY = dehydration 

• ENVIRO = heat stroke, heat syncope, heat 
exhaustion, cold-frost bite, hypothermia 

• SI = smoke inhalation (or chemical, gases) 

Based on ACES’ 
Environmental Health 
Effects bucket, with the 
addition of the CO 
syndrome 

Respiratory infections • BRONCH = bronchiolitis, RSV 

• CROUP = Croup (parainfluenza viruses) 

• ILI = fever, myalgia, undifferentiated flu 

• PN = pneumonia 
• RESP = respiratory infection non-croup, non-

bronchiolitis 

Based on ACES’ 
Respiratory Infections 
bucket 

Gastrointestinal infections • GASTRO = gastroenteritis 

• VOM = vomiting-alone-NORO like illness, not 
secondary to chemo or with other symptoms 

 

Other infection and disease • B = Guillain Barre syndrome, flaccid paralysis  



Appendix B Report No. 041-20 

 

• INF = non-specific infections: potential interest 
to public health, epiglottitis, tonsil abscess 

• MEN = meningitis and encephalitis 

• REPORT = reportable diseases 

• SEP = bacteremia, sepsis 

Dermatological infections • CELL = cellulitis, non-wound infection, non-
abscess 

• DERM = rash, undifferentiated, lesion, wart 

• NEC = necrotizing fasciitis, severe cellulitis, 
gangrene 

Based on ACES’ 
Dermatological 
Infections bucket 

Health system continuous 
quality improvement (CQI) 

• CDIFF = C. difficile 

• PO = post-operative infection or complication 

Based on ACES’ Health 
System CQI bucket 

3 ED visits for motor 
vehicle collisions 
(MVC) to hospitals in 
Middlesex-London 

NACRS – Intellihealth Monthly January 2015 to 
Q1 2020 

Monthly 

3. Social Determinants of Health 
 Indicator Source Data time interval Time period Update period 

1 Seasonally adjusted 
unemployment rate 
for the London CMA 

Statistics Canada Monthly January 2016 to 
most complete 
month 

Monthly (lag of 
~10 days) 

2 Unadjusted 
unemployment rate 
for the London CMA 

Statistics Canada Monthly January 2016 to 
most complete 
month 

Monthly (lag of 
~10 days) 

3 Seasonally adjusted 
participation rate for 
the London CMA 

Statistics Canada Monthly January 2016 to 
most complete 
month 

Monthly (lag of 
~10 days) 

4 Unadjusted 
participation rate for 
the London CMA 

Statistics Canada Monthly January 2016 to 
most complete 
month 

Monthly (lag of 
~10 days) 

4. Healthy Pregnancy 

 Indicator Source 
Data time 
interval 

Time period Update period 

1 Women who gave birth who had 
depression in this pregnancy 

BORN Monthly 2013 to most 
complete month 

Monthly 

2 Women who gave birth who had 
anxiety in this pregnancy 

BORN Monthly 2013 to most 
complete month 

Monthly 

3 Self-reported smoking at time of 
labour/admission 

BORN Monthly 2013 to most 
complete month 

Monthly 

4 Self-reported alcohol use during 
pregnancy 

BORN Monthly 2013 to most 
complete month 

Monthly 

5 Self-reported drug use (other 
than alcohol) during pregnancy 

BORN Monthly 2013 to most 
complete month 

Monthly 

5. Birth and Early Development 

 Indicator Source 
Data time 
interval 

Time period Update period 



Appendix B Report No. 041-20 

 

1 Births by location type BORN Monthly 2013 to most 
complete month 

Monthly 

2 Emergency department visits for 
OBS syndrome (related to 
obstetrics) 

ACES Grouped by 
week 

December 28, 
2018 to most 
complete week 
(Sunday to 
Saturday) 

Weekly 

3 Emergency department visits for 
GYN syndrome (includes 
gynecological, bleed, 
hysterectomy, PID) 

ACES Grouped by 
week 

December 28, 
2018 to most 
complete week 
(Sunday to 
Saturday) 

Weekly 

4 Emergency department visits for 
NEWB syndrome (newborn)* 

ACES Grouped by 
week 

December 28, 
2018 to most 
complete week 
(Sunday to 
Saturday) 

Weekly 

5 Emergency department visits for 
children age 0 to 4 (all 
syndromes) 

ACES Grouped by 
week 

December 28, 
2018 to most 
complete week 
(Sunday to 
Saturday) 

Weekly 

6 Breastfeeding (any and exclusive) 
at time of discharge from 
hospital or midwifery care 

BORN Monthly 2013 to most 
complete month 

Monthly 

6. Immunization 
 Indicator Source Data time interval Time period Update period 

1 Immunization – coverage for all 
ISPA antigens for  

• All students 7–17 years 
old 

• 7-year old students 

• 17-year old students 

Panorama – 
PEAR 

School year (SY) 
to date 

2017–18 SY, to 
2020–21 SY to 
date 

Bi-monthly 

2 Immunization – coverage for 
school-based program vaccines 
for students 12 years old: 

• Hepatitis B 

• HPV 

• Meningococcal (quadrivalent) 

Panorama – 
PEAR 

School year (SY) 
to date 

2017–18 SY, to 
2020–21 SY to 
date 

Bi-monthly 

7. Infectious Disease 
 Indicator Source Data time interval Time period Update period 

1 STIs – Number of confirmed cases 
of: 

• Chlamydia 

• Gonorrhea 

• HIV 

• Syphilis – Infectious 

PHO Infectious 
Disease Query 

Monthly 2017 to most 
complete month 

Monthly 



Appendix B Report No. 041-20 

 

• Syphilis – All types 

2 STIs – Rate of confirmed cases of: 

• Chlamydia 

• Gonorrhea 

• HIV 

• Syphilis – Infectious 

• Syphilis – All types 

PHO Infectious 
Disease Query 

Monthly 2017 to most 
complete month 

Monthly 

3 STIs – Percent positivity of testing 
for: 

• Chlamydia 

• Gonorrhea 

• HIV 
 

PHO STI Lab 
Decision 
Support Tool 
(chlamydia, 
gonorrhea) 
 
PHO ad hoc 
request (HIV) 

Monthly TBD Monthly 

8. Mental Health 
 Indicator Source Data time interval Time period Update period 

1 Distress line calls received by 
staff at Middlesex-London CMHA 
Branch 

CMHA Monthly January 2019 to 
most complete 
month 

Monthly 

2 Emergency department visits for 
mental health to hospitals in 
Middlesex-London 

NACRS – 
Intellihealth 

Monthly January 2015 to 
Q1 2020 

Monthly 

3 Ontario 211 clients identifying 
needs related to mental-health 
/addictions in Middlesex-London 

Ontario 211 Monthly January 2015 to 
most complete 
month 

Monthly 

4 Emergency department visits for 
mental health (syndromes: MH, 
MHS, SOC) 

ACES Grouped by week December 28, 
2018 to most 
complete week 
(Sunday to 
Saturday) 

Weekly 

9. Oral Health  
 Indicator Source Data time interval Time period Update period 

1 Emergency department visits for 
emergency dental care 

NACRS – 
Intellihealth 

Monthly TBD TBD 

2 % of eligible seniors who 
required urgent dental care 
through OSDCP 

OHISS / 
ABELDent 

Monthly December 2019 
to most complete 
month 

Monthly 

3 % of eligible children who 
required urgent dental care 
through HSO 

OHISS / 
ABELDent 

Monthly TBD Monthly 

4 % of eligible students screened in 
the school-based dental 
screening program identified as 
requiring urgent dental care 

OHISS / 
ABELDent 

Monthly TBD Monthly 



Appendix B Report No. 041-20 

 

10. Preventable Mortality 
*Note: these data will not be available in the short term 

 Indicator Source Data time interval Time period Update period 

1 Preventable mortality rate (all 
causes) 

Ontario 
Mortality Data – 
Intellihealth  

Annually 2013 to most 
recent year 

Annually or 
semi-annually 

2 Preventable causes of mortality 
rates: 

• Cancer 

• Injury 

• Cardiovascular 

• Respiratory 

• Alcohol & drugs 

• Infection 

• Nutrition 

• Digestive 

Ontario 
Mortality Data – 
Intellihealth  

Annually 2013 to most 
recent year 

Annually or 
semi-annually 

 



                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

                                    REPORT NO. 042-20 

 

 

TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 

 

FROM: Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health 
  

DATE:  2020 September 17 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

COVID-19 SURVEILLANCE TESTING ON FARMS 
 

Recommendation 

 
It is recommended that Report No. 042-20 re: “COVID-19 Surveillance Testing on Farms” be received 

for information. 

 

 

Key Points  
 

• Surveillance testing of migrant farm workers (MFWs) for COVID-19 was undertaken in July 2020 for 

select farms in the Middlesex-London region. This initiative was prompted by the occurrence of 

outbreaks amongst this population in other jurisdictions in Southern Ontario. 

• The MFW community has been identified at high risk for COVID-19 outbreaks due to congregate living 

environments and barriers to health care and testing. 

• The campaign concluded on August 21, 2020. Approximately 64% of MFWs in the Middlesex-London 

region were tested and no positive cases were identified among migrant farm workers during the 

surveillance campaign. 

• MLHU will continue to support employers and workers on farms to ensure that preventive steps are in 

place to limit the transmission of COVID-19. 

 

 

Background 

 

Migrant farm workers (MFWs) are employed by many farms in southwestern Ontario. With an estimated 

150-200 workers in the Middlesex-London region, the scale of the migrant farmers in this jurisdiction is 

smaller than other neighbouring communities. Some workers live in congregate housing on the farm whereas 

others live in the community. Of the approximately 50 farms who employ migrant farmers in London and 

Middlesex, most have less than 10. A majority of the workers are employed by 3-4 farms. All of these farms 

also employ local workers who live in the community. The Health Unit has been working with farms since 

the early spring, including liaison with public health inspectors to introduce preventive actions. 

 

Outbreaks of COVID-19 amongst MFWs in neighbouring jurisdictions has highlighted three key 

characteristics about this population: (1) these workers are not positioned to easily disclose symptoms of 

COVID-19, (2) the congregate living settings where workers live are areas of rapid transmission, and (3) 

barriers to health care and testing exist.  

  

  



2020 September 17 -  2  - Report No. 042-20 

 

  

 

Given these characteristics, proactive testing of asymptomatic individuals had the potential to play a 

uniquely important role in supporting the wellbeing of this community and minimizing transmission of 

COVID-19. In partnership with Ontario Health, the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food, and Rural Affairs 

(OMAFRA), and the Middlesex-London Paramedic Services (MLPS), Middlesex-London Health Unit 

(MLHU) organized a surveillance testing initiative of MFWs in the London-Middlesex region. Farms were 

identified for surveillance testing was based on the number of migrant workers employed by a particular 

farm and the level of risk as assessed by the Public Health Inspector. Farms were ranked by Public Health 

Inspectors familiar with the farms as moderate to high risk based on number of MFWs employed by that 

farm and whether they were living congregate settings. 

 

Process 

 

To increase acceptability from the farmers for the testing, public health inspectors who had developed 

working relationships in the past were the first point of contact. Once notification had occurred, additional 

members of the MLHU team supported the mobilization of on-site testing.   

 

There was hesitancy from both farm owners and MFWs regarding the need for surveillance testing. One of 

the most prevalent concerns from operators included the possibility of exposing their workers to the mobile 

team. Fortunately, the previously established relationships between MLHU and farm owners ensured 

fulsome discussions could occur, providing reassurance that testing could happen safely. In the end, all 

identified farms agreed to have on-site testing. 

 

The expectation for the farm owners was that they ensured all MFWs had an opportunity for testing. If 

interpreters were required, MLHU provided this service at the time of testing. Community paramedics from 

MLPS were instrumental in performing all the testing at the sites. Testing started in early July, and the 

initiative concluded on August 21st, 2020. Of the 137 eligible MFWs, 87 or 64% were tested.  

 

Next Steps 
 

MLHU will continue to support employers and workers on farms to ensure that preventive steps are in place 

to limit the transmission of COVID-19. The initiative highlighted the importance of established and 

respectful working relationships with community partners and emphasized the need for ongoing work to 

support the health of MFWs. 

 

This report was prepared by the Incidence Management System (IMS) Operations section and the Associate 

Medical Officer of Health. 

 

  
 

Christopher Mackie, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC  Michael Clarke, PhD 

Medical Officer of Health      CEO (Interim)

 



                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

                                    REPORT NO. 043-20 

 

 

TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 

 

FROM: Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health 

Michael Clarke, CEO (Interim) 

 

DATE:  2020 September 17 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

UPDATE ON PROVINCIAL COVID-19 CASE AND CONTACT MANAGEMENT (CCM) 
SYSTEM 

 

Recommendation 
 

It is recommended that the Board of Health receive Report No. 043-20 re: “Update on Provincial  

COVID-19 Case and Contact Management (CCM) System” for information. 

 

Key Points 
 

• The Ontario Ministry of Health has directed all public health units (PHUs) to implement a new COVID-

19 case and contact management (CCM) system. The tool is being built by a company called Salesforce. 

As of August 20, 2020, 31 out of 34 PHUs have implemented the system.  

• MLHU staff have been monitoring the development of the tool closely, through participation in several 

provincial working groups and liaison with other PHUs who have implemented the tool.  

• Although the Ministry of Health and Salesforce continue to enhance the system, there exist unresolved 

issues related to solution instability, data migration, record creation, and reporting. In contrast to 

MLHU’s existing CCM solution, the current functionality of the provincial system is insufficient for the 

MLHU to meet its legislated mandate and its use may expose the MLHU to organizational risks. 

• MLHU has delayed implementation of the provincial CCM solution until these issues are addressed. The 

MLHU team will continue to work with the Ministry of Health to further develop the system such that 

risks can be mitigated or eliminated, and a go-live date can be established.  
 

Background 

In June 2020, the Ontario Ministry of Health announced that it was implementing a new case and contact 

management (CCM) solution for public health units (PHUs) to manage and report on COVID-19 cases and 

contacts, replacing the use of the existing provincial infectious disease information system (iPHIS). Under the 

direction of the Ministry of Health, the companies Salesforce and Accenture have been developing the new 

CCM system with input from Ontario’s PHUs. 

Using a rapid, iterative approach, the initial release of the system was implemented by four PHUs on July 17, 

2020. As of August 20, 2020, the fourth iteration of the solution was implemented by 31 of 34 Ontario PHUs. 

The provincial CCM system is yet to be implemented at three PHUs, all of which have locally developed 

COVID-19 case and contact management systems, including the Middlesex-London Health Unit (MLHU). 

Leveraging the experiences of developing a successful case management tool, the MLHU has actively 

participated in the development of the new provincial CCM solution. While the Ministry of Health and 

Salesforce have been responsive to system development feedback from PHU users, several issues continue to 

exist regarding the functionality of the solution and the inherent organizational risks that would be assumed 

by MLHU once it is implemented locally. 

 

CCM System Limitations 

Based on feedback provided by other PHUs at province-wide collaboration meetings, the provincial CCM 

system is characterized by several limitations and deficiencies, including (but not limited to): 

Solution and data instability 

  



2020 September 17 -  2  - Report No. 043-20 

Between July 17 and August 20, 2020, four iterations of the provincial CCM were released. An additional 

three iterations are projected by mid-autumn. With each release, substantial new and updated functionality is 

introduced, requiring refresher training for users. Additional data fields are also migrated into the system 

with each release, necessitating review of existing data to verify the accuracy and completeness of records. 

While appreciative of expanding functionality and data availability, PHUs already using the CCM system 

report that it can be challenging to plan for new releases and to ensure all users are up to date on the system’s 

functionality. 

Insufficient and inaccurate data migration from existing systems into CCM solution 

Only a subset of the case and contact management data that resides in existing systems is migrated into the 

provincial CCM solution at the time of go-live. While the number of data elements migrated has expanded 

with each release, the current data migration templates do not include all data elements required for fulsome 

case and contact management and reporting by the MLHU. Further, PHUs already using the solution report 

that inaccuracies have been introduced during the data migration process, due to data mapping errors. 

Inaccuracies introduced by integration with the Ontario Laboratory Information System (OLIS) 

Currently, positive laboratory results are faxed to the case’s PHU of residence to initiate case management. 

The provincial CCM system integrates with the provincial laboratory system (OLIS) to automate case 

investigation record creation. PHUs already using the CCM solution report that some system-generated 

records are not created as a positive case, even though faxed results for the same individual are positive. In 

other instances, the OLIS feed reflects that the result was indeed positive, but the system-generated case 

investigation record has been flagged with a different classification. The potential for missing a report of a 

COVID-19 positive case requires process redundancies to be developed until these and other record-creation 

issues are resolved. 

Decreased reporting functionality 

Currently, CCM solution reports are unable to link data from different sections of the system, such as linking 

client demographics to the associated case investigation details. Further, the system lacks key fields that are 

integral to infectious diseases reporting, such as age at time of illness and earliest symptom onset date. This 

issue is further amplified because the report builder is restricted to one calculated field within each report. A 

user could build a report that calculates one of these fields, but not all. Overall, the reporting functionality 

currently available in the CCM solution is greatly decreased compared to what PHUs had previously. Many 

PHUs use parallel systems to sustain public reporting, resulting in duplicative work. 

Given the currently unresolved issues related to solution instability, data migration, record creation, and 

reporting, the functionality of current release of the provincial CCM solution is insufficient for the MLHU to 

meet its legislated mandates for case and contact management, and infectious diseases surveillance and 

reporting. 

 

Next Steps 

Given the inadequacies noted above and the associated organizational risks, MLHU has delayed 

implementation of the provincial CCM solution until the system is proven to be adequate for comprehensive 

COVID-19 case and contact management and reporting. The MLHU CCM implementation team will 

continue to work with the Ministry of Health to advance data migration processes and system functionality, 

such that organizational risks are mitigated or eliminated, after which a go-live date can be established. 

 

In a memo released on September 4th, 2020, the Ministry has signaled that it intends to proceed with full 

provincial implementation of the tool. The memo, attached in Appendix A, indicates changes to regulation 

that would require all reporting of COVID-19 cases to occur through the new provincial tool.  

 

This report was prepared by the Associate Medical Officer of Health and the COVID-19 Incident 

Management Team. 

 

     
Christopher Mackie, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC  Michael Clarke, PhD 

Medical Officer of Health     CEO (Interim) 



Ministry of Health  

Office of Chief Medical Officer of 
Health, Public Health  
393 University Avenue, 21st Floor 
Toronto ON  M5G 2M2 
 
Tel.: 416 212-3831 
Fax: 416 325-8412 

Ministère de la Santé 

Bureau du médecin hygiéniste en 
chef, santé publique 
393 avenue University, 21e étage 
Toronto ON  M5G 2M2 
 
Tél. : 416 212-3831 
Téléc. : 416 325-8412 

 

September 4, 2020  

MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Board of Health Chairs 
 Medical Officers of Health and Associate Medical Officers of Health  
 
RE: Amendments to the Infectious Diseases Protocol  
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Dear Colleagues: 
 
I am writing to inform you of changes to the Infectious Diseases Protocol to accompany the implementation of the 
Provincial Case and Contact Management Solution (CCM). CCM will phase out the multiple tools being used across 
the province and replace the provincial communicable disease database (iPHIS) for COVID-19 case and contact 
reporting.  
 
This release is part of the ministry’s ongoing process to ensure that the Ontario Public Health Standards: 
Requirements for Programs, Services and Accountability (OPHS) and related Protocols, Guidelines and Appendices 
remain up to date and reflect current policies and programs.   
 
The attached Infectious Diseases Protocol is effective September 4, 2020. The revised document will soon be made 
available in English and French on the OPHS website:  
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/infdispro.aspx . 
 
Changes to the Infectious Diseases Protocol include: 

• Revisions to incorporate the updated reporting requirements related to implementation CCM with respect to 
diseases caused by a novel coronavirus, and deaths from such disease. The requirements specific to CCM 
have been added under the Reporting of Infectious Disease, Management of Infectious Diseases – Sporadic 
Cases, Investigation and Management of Infectious Diseases Outbreaks, Prevention and Management of 
Zoonotic Diseases sections of the protocol. Please note both COVID-19 cases and contacts are to be entered 
into CCM. 
 

Please do not hesitate to contact Nina Arron, Director, Health Protection and Surveillance Policy and Programs 
Branch, at nina.arron@ontario.ca  if you have any questions or concerns. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
David C. Williams, MD, MHSc, FRCPC 
Chief Medical Officer of Health  
 
c: Dr. Colleen Geiger (A), President and Chief Executive Officer, Public Health Ontario 

Dr. Brian Schwartz, Vice President, Public Health Ontario 

 

 
  

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/infdispro.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/infdispro.aspx
mailto:nina.arron@ontario.ca
mailto:nina.arron@ontario.ca


Infectious Diseases 
Protocol, 2020 
Ministry of Health
Effective: September 4, 2020  



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

2 

Preamble 
The Ontario Public Health Standards: Requirements for Programs, Services, and 
Accountability (Standards) are published by the Minister of Health and Long-Term Care 
under the authority of section 7 of the Health Protection and Promotion Act (HPPA) to 
specify the mandatory health programs and services provided by boards of health.1,2 The 
Standards identify the minimum expectations for public health programs and services. 
Boards of health are accountable for implementing the Standards including the protocols 
and guidelines that are referenced in the Standards. Protocols are program and topic-
specific documents incorporated into the Standards which provide direction on how 
boards of health shall operationalize specific requirement(s) identified within the 
Standards. 

Purpose 
The purpose of this protocol is to provide direction to boards of health with respect to the 
prevention, detection and management of infectious diseases of public health 
importance. This protocol should be considered as an overarching protocol to support the 
other infectious disease and infection prevention related protocols and disease-specific 
appendices, and should be utilized in conjunction with the Population Health Assessment 
and Surveillance Protocol, 2018 (or as current), where applicable.3 
This protocol is intended to provide direction regarding minimum responsibilities for 
analyzing, interpreting, responding to, and communicating about infectious disease 
events to reduce the burden of infectious diseases of public health importance. This 
protocol is also intended to ensure emergency service workers (ESWs) are notified by 
the medical officer of health, or designate, in the event that s/he may have been exposed 
to an infectious disease of public health importance so that appropriate action can be 
taken.  
The protocol provides direction regarding: 

• The establishment of rates of infectious diseases of public health importance and 
factors that influence their occurrence; 

• The identification of emerging trends and changes in infectious disease rates; 
• The identification of trends and changes in factors that influence the rate of 

infectious diseases; 
• The provision of timely communications with respect to infectious disease 

incidence rates that are above expected rates; 
• The assessment of population health status with respect to infectious diseases; 
• The planning of evidence-based public health policies, programs, interventions 

and services to prevent, detect and control infectious diseases in the community 
and in high-risk settings;  

• The evaluation of public health policies, programs, interventions and services 
related to the prevention and control of infectious diseases; and, 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

3 

• The responsibilities of boards of health with regard to notifying ESWs of possible
exposures to infectious diseases of public health importance where:

o Diseases are not limited to those named under the Mandatory Blood
Testing Act, 2006 (MBTA) (currently restricted to hepatitis B, hepatitis C
and HIV/AIDS.);4 or

o An ESW has not made an application under the MBTA, but the board of
health and/or medical officer of health or designate suspects that an ESW
may have been exposed to an infectious disease of public health
importance.

Appendix A, Disease Specific Chapters, provides information on the pathogenicity, 
epidemiology and public health management of all infectious disease of public health 
significance in Ontario. Appendix B, Provincial Case Definitions, provides the provincial 
surveillance case definitions for infectious disease of public health significance, in 
addition to disease-specific information, including current laboratory technologies and 
clinical signs and symptoms. 
Further direction, with respect to sexually transmitted infections, rabies and tuberculosis 
prevention and control can also be found in the Sexual Health and Sexually 
Transmitted/Blood-Borne Infections Prevention and Control Protocol, 2018 (or as 
current); the Rabies Prevention and Control Protocol, 2018 (or as current); and the 
Tuberculosis Prevention and Control Protocol, 2018 (or as current).5-7 
This protocol does not address requirements of boards of health under the MBTA which 
is administered by the Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services.4 

Reference to the Standards 
This section identifies the standards and requirements to which this protocol relates. 
Population Health Assessment 
Requirement 2. The board of health shall interpret and use surveillance data to 
communicate information on risks to relevant audiences in accordance with the Healthy 
Environments and Climate Change Guideline, 2018 (or as current); the Infectious 
Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or as current); and the Population Health Assessment and 
Surveillance Protocol, 2018 (or as current). 
Food Safety 
Requirement 5. The board of health shall ensure 24/7 availability to receive reports of 
and respond to: 
a) Suspected and confirmed food-borne illnesses or outbreaks;
b) Unsafe food-handling practices, food recalls, adulteration, and consumer complaints;

and



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

4 

c) Food-related issues arising from floods, fires, power outages, or other situations that
may affect food safety in accordance with the Health Protection and Promotion Act;
the Food Safety Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2018
(or as current); and the Operational Approaches for Food Safety Guideline, 2018 (or
as current).

Healthy Environments  
Requirement 1. The board of health shall: 
a) Conduct surveillance of environmental factors in the community;
b) Conduct epidemiological analysis of surveillance data including monitoring of trends

over time; emerging trends; and priority populations; and
c) Use information obtained to inform healthy environments programs and services
in accordance with the Health Hazard Response Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the
Healthy Environments and Climate Change Guideline, 2018 (or as current); the
Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or as current); and the Population Health
Assessment and Surveillance Protocol, 2018 (or as current).
Immunization 
Requirement 1. The board of health shall, in accordance with the Immunization for 
Children in Schools and Licensed Child Care Settings Protocol, 2018 (or as current), 
assess, maintain records and report on: 
a) The immunization status of children enrolled in licensed child care settings, as

defined in the Child Care and Early Years Act, 2014;8
b) The immunization status of children attending schools in accordance with the

Immunization of School Pupils Act; and
c) Immunizations administered at board of health-based clinics as required in

accordance with the Immunization for Children in Schools and Licensed Child Care
Settings Protocol, 2018 (or as current) and the Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or
as current).

Requirement 2. The board of health shall conduct epidemiological analysis of 
surveillance data for vaccine preventable diseases, vaccine coverage, and adverse 
events following immunization, including monitoring of trends over time, emerging trends 
and priority populations in accordance with the Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or as 
current) and the Population Health Assessment and Surveillance Protocol, 2018 (or as 
current). 
Requirement 10. The board of health shall: 
a) Promote reporting of adverse events following immunization by health care providers

to the local board of health in accordance with the Health Protection and Promotion
Act; and

b) Monitor, investigate, and document all suspected cases of adverse events following
immunization that meet the provincial reporting criteria and promptly report all cases.



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

5 

Infectious and Communicable Diseases Prevention and Control  
Requirement 1. The board of health shall conduct population health assessment and 
surveillance regarding infectious and communicable diseases and their determinants.  
These efforts shall include: 
a) Reporting data elements in accordance with the Health Protection and Promotion Act; 

the Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Rabies Prevention and 
Control Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Sexual Health and Sexually 
Transmitted/Blood-Borne Infections Prevention and Control Protocol, 2018 (or as 
current); and the Tuberculosis Prevention and Control Protocol, 2018 (or as current); 

b) Conducting surveillance and epidemiological analysis, including the monitoring of 
trends over time, emerging trends, and priority populations in accordance with the 
Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Population Health Assessment 
and Surveillance Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Rabies Prevention and Control 
Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Sexual Health and Sexually Transmitted/Blood-
Borne Infections Prevention and Control Protocol, 2018 (or as current); and the 
Tuberculosis Prevention and Control Protocol, 2018 (or as current); 

c) Responding to international, Federal/Provincial/Territorial and local changes in 
diseases epidemiology by adapting programs and services; and 

d) Using the information obtained through assessment and surveillance to inform 
program development regarding communicable diseases and other infectious 
diseases of public health importance. 

Requirement 11. The board of health shall provide public health management of cases, 
contacts, and outbreaks to minimize the public health risk in accordance with the 
Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Institutional/Facility Outbreak 
Management Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Management of Potential Rabies 
Exposures Guideline, 2018 (or as current); the Rabies Prevention and Control Protocol, 
2018 (or as current); the Sexual Health and Sexually Transmitted/ Blood-Borne Infections 
Prevention and Control Protocol, 2018 (or as current); and the Tuberculosis Prevention 
and Control Protocol, 2018 (or as current). 
Requirement 16. The board of health shall develop a local vector-borne management 
strategy based on surveillance data and emerging trends in accordance with the 
Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or as current). 
Requirement 21. The board of health shall ensure 24/7 availability to receive reports of 
and respond to: 
a) Infectious diseases of public health importance in accordance with the Health 

Protection and Promotion Act; the Mandatory Blood Testing Act, 2006; the Infectious 
Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or as current); and the Institutional/ Facility Outbreak 
Management Protocol, 2018 (or as current); 

b) Potential rabies exposures in accordance with the Health Protection and Promotion 
Act; the Management of Potential Rabies Exposures Guideline, 2018 (or as current); 
and the Rabies Prevention and Control Protocol, 2018 (or as current); and 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

6 

c) Animal cases of avian chlamydiosis, avian influenza, novel influenza, or 
Echinococcus multilocularis infection, in accordance with the Health Protection and 
Promotion Act, the Management of Avian Chlamydiosis in Birds Guideline, 2018 (or 
as current); the Management of Avian Influenza or Novel Influenza in Birds or 
Animals Guideline, 2018 (or as current); and the Management of Echinococcus 
Multilocularis Infections in Animals Guideline, 2018 (or as current). 

Safe Water 
Requirement 1. The board of health shall: 
a) Conduct surveillance of: 

• Drinking water systems and associated illnesses, risk factors, and emerging 
trends; 

• Public beaches and water-borne illnesses associated with recreational water, risk 
factors, and emerging trends, and  

• Recreational water facilities; 
b) Conduct epidemiological analysis of surveillance data, including monitoring of trends 

over time, emerging trends, and priority populations; and  
c) Use the information obtained to inform safe water programs and services  
in accordance with the Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Population 
Health Assessment and Surveillance Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Recreational 
Water Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Safe Drinking Water and Fluoride Monitoring 
Protocol, 2018 (or as current); and the Small Drinking Water Systems Risk Assessment 
Guideline, 2018 (or as current). 
Requirement 8. The board of health shall ensure 24/7 availability to receive reports of 
and respond to: 
a) Adverse events related to safe water, such as reports of adverse drinking water of 

drinking water systems, governed under the Health Protection and Promotion Act or 
the Safe Drinking Water Act, 2002; 

b) Reports of water-borne illnesses or outbreaks; 
c) Safe water issues arising from floods, fires, power outages, or other situations that 

may affect water safety; and 
d) Safe water issues relating to recreational water use including public beaches in 

accordance with the Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or as current); Operational 
Approaches for Recreational Water Guideline, 2018 (or as current); the Recreational 
Water Protocol, 2018 (or as current); the Safe Drinking Water and Fluoride Monitoring 
Protocol, 2018 (or as current); and the Small Drinking Water Systems Risk 
Assessment Guideline, 2018 (or as current). 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

7 

Operational Roles and Responsibilities 
Interpretation, Use and Communication of 
Infectious Disease Surveillance Data 
1) In compliance with relevant privacy legislation (e.g., HPPA, Personal Health 

Information Protection Act, 2004 [PHIPA], Municipal Freedom of Information and 
Protection of Privacy Act [MFIPPA]), the board of health shall communicate public 
health surveillance information, and findings on infectious diseases of public health 
significance and factors related to the acquisition and transmission of such diseases, 
to relevant audiences and stakeholders including, but not limited to: local, provincial 
and federal partners, health care practitioners, the general public, media, and 
community partners.  

2) The board of health shall develop a strategy for reporting and communicating 
infectious diseases surveillance information and findings that outlines: 
a) The target audience for each communication; 
b) The communication format; 
c) The frequency of communication; and 
d) The characteristics and limitations of source data and information. 

3) On an annual basis, the board of health shall review its public health infectious 
diseases communication strategy to ensure that key messages are relevant, current, 
and appropriate for its target audience(s), and that the communication channels used, 
including the frequency, are appropriate. 

4) The board of health shall develop and disseminate information products on infectious 
diseases, their risk factors, and appropriate preventive measures in a format that is 
suitable given the target audiences. This may include collaboration with other boards 
of health, government agencies, regulatory bodies, non-governmental organizations, 
and community partners. 

5) As appropriate, the board of health shall employ media communications such as 
news conferences and other public releases when information is critical, time 
sensitive and must be communicated as broadly as possible. 

Reporting of Infectious Diseases 
1) The board of health shall provide instructions as often as is necessary to persons 

required under the HPPA to report information to the medical officer of health with 
respect to infectious diseases of public health significance, reportable events (i.e., 
adverse events following immunization) and deaths from such diseases and events. 
These instructions shall specify:2 
a) The diseases and events that must be reported; 
b) The method or process for reporting; 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

8 

c) Required information as specified in Reg. 569 under the HPPA:9 and
d) The time or times when, or the period or periods of time within which to report.

2) The board of health shall forward reports to the Ministry of Health (the “ministry”), or
as specified by the ministry, to the Ontario Agency for Health Protection and
Promotion (Public Health Ontario [PHO]) using a) the Provincial Case and Contact
Management Solution (CCM) with respect to both cases and contacts for diseases
caused by a novel coronavirus, and deaths from such disease, and b) the integrated
Public Health Information System (iPHIS), or any other method specified by the
ministry, with respect to:
a) Infectious diseases of public health significance (excluding diseases caused by a

novel coronavirus), and deaths from such diseases;
b) Any other infectious diseases that the ministry may specify from time to time; and
c) Reportable events that may be related to the administration of an immunizing

agent as defined in the HPPA.2

3) Reports as specified in 2) above shall comply with the minimum data elements
identified in:
a) Reg. 569 under the HPPA;9
b) Disease-specific User Guides published by PHO; and
c) Bulletins and directives issued by PHO.

4) The ministry or, as specified by the ministry, PHO, may request specific information to
investigate and respond to infectious diseases or events of public health importance.

5) The board of health shall forward reports to the ministry or, as specified by the
ministry, to PHO with respect to immunization coverage in accordance with the
Immunization for Children in Schools and Licensed Child Care Settings Protocol,
2018 (or as current).10

6) The board of health shall comply with ministry requests or, as specified by the
ministry, PHO requests for immunization data and board of health-based
immunization clinic data.

7) The board of health shall comply with ministry or PHO requests for vector surveillance
and non-human host surveillance data using a method and format specified by the
ministry.

8) A report made to the ministry or, as specified by the ministry, to PHO, using iPHIS,
CCM or any other method specified by the ministry shall comply with:
a) Enhanced Surveillance Directives (ESD) that are active at the time the report is

being made;
b) Case classifications set out in the Ontario surveillance case definitions (Appendix

B) published by the ministry;
c) Disease/event-specific User Guides published by PHO; and
d) Timely entry of case requirements as set out in the iPHIS Bulletin “Timely entry of

cases and outbreaks” or as current.11



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

9 

Interpretation and Application of Surveillance 
Data 
1) The board of health shall use infectious diseases surveillance data, immunization and 

reportable events data, and animal and vector surveillance data to: 
a) Establish and compare rates (incidence and prevalence) for infectious diseases 

and monitor trends for emerging diseases of public health importance including 
factors that influence their occurrence; 

b) Identify trends and changes in immunization coverage rates and monitor vaccine 
safety; 

c) Identify trends and changes in disease vector, animal reservoir, and host 
surveillance data; 

d) Identify populations at risk of exposure to infectious diseases; 
e) Develop evidence-based public health policies, programs and services to prevent 

and control infectious diseases in the community, in high-risk settings, and in 
insect vector populations; and 

f) Evaluate and/or review public health policies, programs, surveillance activities and 
services related to the prevention and control of infectious diseases. 

2) The board of health shall analyze and interpret infectious disease data, and data 
related to factors influencing their occurrence, in an annual report to its target 
audience that describes, at a minimum, the following: 
a) The incidence (morbidity and mortality) of diseases of public health significance; 
b) The distribution of demographic and disease-specific factors influencing infectious 

disease incidence, including vector data; 
c) Populations at risk of exposure to infectious diseases in the community and in 

specific settings such as long-term care homes, hospitals, and child care centres 
(as defined in the Child Care and Early Years Act, 2014);8 and 

d) Trends over time in the incidence of diseases of public health importance, which 
may include antimicrobial resistant indicators. 

3) The board of health shall undertake timely monitoring, analysis, interpretation and 
communication of information pertaining to infectious diseases, and factors 
influencing their occurrence, including incidence and prevalence in animal reservoirs 
and insect vector species for zoonotic and vector-borne diseases. This should be 
done in consultation with the ministry, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), 
the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, and the Ontario Ministry of 
Agriculture, Food, and Rural Affairs. The timing and frequency of these activities shall 
be determined by one or more of the following factors: 
a) Temporal/seasonal patterns of exposure or infectious disease occurrence; 
b) Likelihood of detecting meaningful change in the rate of infectious disease 

between monitoring intervals; 
c) The availability of data; 
d) The urgency of implementing necessary prevention and control measures; 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

10 

e) The potential influence on decision-making; and 
f) The characteristics of the target audience. 

4) The board of health shall use provincial standard definitions of variables and health 
indicators where available, to conduct data analyses and interpret infectious diseases 
data. 

5) The board of health shall use information from inspection reports of premises 
associated with risk of infectious diseases to plan further inspections of these 
premises, to assess disease transmission risks, infection prevention and control 
(IPAC) lapses and required interventions, and to tailor IPAC support and education to 
these premises (Infection Prevention and Control Complaint Protocol, 2018 [or as 
current]).12 

Public Health On-Call System 
1) The board of health shall have a 24 hours per day, seven days per week (24/7) public 

health on-call system for receiving and responding to reports with respect to: 
a) Confirmed and suspected outbreaks of infectious diseases of public health 

importance occurring in institutions, premises, facilities, or in the community; 
b) Confirmed or suspected cases of, and exposures to, infectious diseases of public 

health significance reported by persons required under the HPPA to report 
information to the medical officer of health;2 

c) Suspected exposures to, and reports of, infectious diseases among ESWs (see 
the section on Exposure of Emergency Service Workers to Infectious Diseases) 
that occur during the course of their work and in accordance with the MBTA;4 

d) Confirmed or suspected cases of, and exposures to, infectious diseases reported 
by a member of the public; 

e) Health hazards, including IPAC lapses, that have, or that are likely to have, an 
adverse effect on the health of any person; 

f) Food or other product recalls issued by the ministry, the CFIA, other provincial or 
national regulatory agencies, or manufacturers; and 

g) Public complaints with respect to the risk of transmission of infectious diseases 
(Infection Prevention and Control Complaint Protocol, 2018 [or as current])12  

h) Animal cases of avian chlamydiosis, avian influenza, novel influenza, or 
Echinococcus multilocularis infection. 

2) The board of health shall ensure that the public and persons required under the 
HPPA to report information to the medical officer of health with respect to diseases of 
public health significance, are informed of the public health on-call system and how to 
access it.2 

3) The board of health shall assess reports with respect to infectious diseases and 
factors influencing their occurrence that originate through the public health on-call 
system within 24 hours of receipt. 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

11 

4) The board of health’s initial response to reports with respect to infectious diseases 
and factors influencing their occurrence that originate through the public health on-call 
system, shall include the following: 
a) Review and assessment of the information provided as well as appropriate action, 

based on the initial assessment, to prevent, control or manage exposure to, or 
transmission of the infectious disease; 

b) Contacting the reporting person, facility/institution or organization to obtain 
additional information for the purpose of undertaking further assessment of the 
risk of exposure to, or transmission of, the infectious disease; 

c) Contacting the case(s) and/or contact(s) named in the report to obtain additional 
information for the purpose of making an assessment pertaining to the risk of 
exposure to, or transmission of, the infectious disease; and 

d) Conducting a site visit or an inspection where appropriate. 
5) The public health on-call system shall reference standard policies and procedures for 

responding to health hazards including those associated with the risk of exposure to, 
and transmission, of infectious diseases. 

6) The board of health shall transfer reports received through its on-call system to 
another appropriate board of health, if required, in a timely manner based on the 
urgency and public health risk of the incident.  

7) The public health on-call system shall be documented and reviewed at least annually, 
or as needed, and shall include: 
a) An up-to-date schedule that specifies board of health staff, including contact 

information, responsible for receiving and responding to reports received through 
the public health on-call system; 

b) Contact information of community partners, regulatory bodies, and government 
agencies involved in the control and prevention of exposures to, and transmission 
of, infectious diseases; 

c) Contact information of the lead government body, regulatory body, or other 
agencies involved in the response to specific types of reports received through the 
public health on-call system; 

d) Contact information of all medical officers of health for the purpose of transferring 
reports received through the public health on-call system as well as a process for 
transferring reports to other boards of health; 

e) Contact information for the Population and Public Health Division of the ministry’s 
on-call system (24/7 Health Care Provider Hotline, 1-866-212-2272); 

f) A distribution mechanism for mass notification, (as well as a back-up 
communications capability) of board of health staff, the ministry, community 
partners, other government ministries, regulatory bodies and other government 
agencies involved in the control and prevention of exposures to, and transmission 
of, infectious diseases; 

g) Information on the timeframe within which the board of health shall provide an 
initial response or forward an out of jurisdiction report; and 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

12 

h) A process for reporting back to persons or organizations that make reports 
through the public health on-call system, where required. 

Management of Infectious Diseases – Sporadic 
Cases 
1) The board of health shall provide public health management of cases and contacts of 

infectious diseases of public health importance in accordance with this protocol. 
2) The public health management of cases and contacts of infectious diseases (see 

Appendix A – Disease-Specific Chapters) of public health importance shall be 
comprised of, but not be limited to: 
a) Case management including, and where applicable: the determination of the 

source of disease, risk factors, exposures, and the provision of disease prevention 
counseling, facilitation of chemoprophylaxis, immunization or immuno-globulin 
and/or advice to seek medical care and submission of clinical specimens; 

b) Contact identification, tracing and notification (where appropriate); 
c) Contact management including, and where applicable: the provision of disease 

prevention counseling, facilitation of chemoprophylaxis, immunization or immuno-
globulin and/or advice to seek medical care and submission of clinical specimens; 

d) Investigation of suspected sources of infection including environmental exposures; 
e) If the board of health’s investigation indicates that an IPAC lapse has been 

identified, post an Initial and a Final Report online in accordance with the Infection 
Prevention and Control Disclosure Protocol, 2018 (or as current);13 

f) Where warranted, inspection of institutions, premises or facilities where cases 
and/or disease transmission is suspected; and 

g) Reporting of cases of infectious diseases to the ministry using iPHIS, CCM or any 
other method specified by the ministry, and in accordance with the reporting 
criteria for infectious diseases of public health significance set out in this protocol. 

Investigation and Management of Infectious 
Diseases Outbreaks 
1) The board of health shall provide public health management of confirmed or 

suspected local outbreaks of infectious diseases of public health importance, as well 
as cross-jurisdictional collaboration when more than one jurisdiction is involved, in 
accordance with this protocol. Support is provided to boards of health by the ministry 
and PHO, as follows: 
a) The ministry and/or PHO support the investigation and management of the 

outbreak/incident as needed. 
b) Any request for assistance from Public Health Agency of Canada’s Canadian Field 

Epidemiology Program, should be directed to the ministry who will then submit on 
behalf of the board of health or PHO. 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

13 

c) For single jurisdiction outbreaks/incidents in Ontario, PHO provides 
epidemiological, scientific, and technical support to the board of health as 
requested by the local medical officer of health or the ministry. 

d) For multi-jurisdictional outbreaks/incidents, PHO coordinates the investigation and 
management when confined to Ontario and participates with other 
provinces/territories in national outbreaks led by the Public Health Agency of 
Canada.  

e) The ministry provides ongoing support, public health oversight, and policy and 
legislative direction as needed. 

f) Specific to zoonotic disease outbreaks involving animals or potential animal 
exposures, the ministry coordinates the response and provides support in the 
management of all animal health related issues and collaborates with PHO 
regarding human clinical cases arising from exposure to infected animals. 

2) The public health management of confirmed or suspected outbreaks of infectious 
diseases of public health importance shall be comprised of, but not be limited to: 
a) Verification of the outbreak; 
b) Consideration of declaration of an outbreak by the medical officer of health or 

designate; 
c) Creation of an Outbreak Management Team (OMT), where required; 
d) Development of an outbreak case definition; 
e) Case management including the determination of exposure history and the 

provision of disease prevention counselling, facilitation of chemoprophylaxis, 
immunization or immuno-globulin (where indicated) and/or advice to seek medical 
care and submission of clinical specimens where applicable; 

f) Contact identification, tracing and notification; 
g) Contact management including the provision of disease prevention counselling, 

facilitation of chemoprophylaxis, immunization or immuno-globulin (where 
indicated) and/or advice to seek medical care and submission of clinical 
specimens where applicable; 

h) Epidemiological analysis including, but not limited to, analyses to determine 
population(s) at risk, the time period at risk and most likely source(s) of infection; 

i) Outbreak notification and communication of outbreak information to the ministry, 
regulatory bodies and other government agencies involved in the prevention and 
control of exposures to and transmission of the outbreak disease; 

j) Outbreak notification and communication of information to the population at risk, 
including persons in settings associated with the outbreak, in addition to, 
community partners that have an identified role in the outbreak including the 
diagnosis, treatment and management of infectious diseases outbreaks. 

k) Maintenance of ongoing surveillance for new cases and/or implementation of 
enhanced or active surveillance to identify new cases; 

l) Implementation of infection prevention and control measures, taking into 
consideration the etiologic agent and the epidemiology of the outbreak; 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

14 

m) Issuance of public health alerts or bulletins where infection prevention and control 
efforts require public compliance with implemented and/or recommended control 
measures; 

n) Issuance of public health alerts or bulletins where necessary to advise unidentified 
contacts of potential exposures and the appropriate follow-up action that is 
required; 

o) Investigation of potential exposures of infection including but not limited to 
collection of exposure histories, inspection of institutions, premises or facilities that 
have been epidemiologically linked to the outbreak (where appropriate), 
environmental samples and clinical specimen product trace-back; 

p) If the board of health’s investigation indicates that an IPAC lapse has been 
identified, post an Initial and a Final Report online in accordance with the Infection 
Prevention and Control Disclosure Protocol, 2018 (or as current);13 and 

q) Coordination of and/or collection of clinical specimens and environmental samples 
in a timely manner for testing to verify etiology as well as the exposure source. 
Boards of health should refer to the most recent PHO labstract and test 
information sheets for information on pathogen specific specimen collection 
requirements, and testing procedures. 

3) The board of health shall develop a written outbreak protocol that specifies the 
composition of the OMT, the use of Incident Management System, if appropriate, and 
their roles and responsibilities. 

4) The board of health shall comply with all active ESDs and other directives with 
respect to ongoing provincial or multi-jurisdiction outbreaks that are issued by PHO. 

5) In consultation with PHO, the board of health shall notify the ministry as soon as 
possible of any evidence of increased virulence based on unusual clinical 
presentation/outcomes, the possibility of multi-jurisdictional involvement, suspicion of 
a novel or emerging strain, or other novel outbreak findings in the outbreak.  

6) Where, in the opinion of the medical officer of health or designate, a delay would not 
pose a risk of harm to individuals, the board of health shall notify the ministry and 
PHO in advance of any notification of the media. 

7) The board of health shall report outbreaks of infectious diseases and/or cases that 
are linked to an outbreak to the ministry after receiving notification of an outbreak or 
determining that an outbreak is occurring/has occurred that has not been reported. 

8) The board of health shall complete data entry and close reported outbreaks once the 
outbreak is declared over (as listed in disease-specific user guides). 

9) A report made using iPHIS, CCM, or any other method specified by the ministry, shall 
comply with the data reporting criteria for infectious diseases of public health 
significance set out in this protocol. 

10) The ministry and PHO may request additional information with respect to reports of 
outbreaks of infectious diseases, hospitalizations, and related deaths. 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

15 

11) The medical officer of health or designate in collaboration with the OMT, where one 
has been established, shall determine when to declare an outbreak over, taking into 
consideration the etiologic agent and the epidemiology of the outbreak. 

Prevention and Management of Zoonotic 
Diseases 
1) The board of health shall provide public health management of (animal) cases and 

contacts of zoonotic infectious diseases of public health importance in accordance 
with this protocol, including but not limited to rabies, avian chlamydiosis (infection of 
birds with the causative agent of psittacosis), avian influenza, novel influenza and 
Echinococcus multilocularis infections, in accordance with the HPPA; the 
Management of Avian Chlamydiosis in Birds Guideline, 2018 (or as current); the 
Management of Avian Influenza or Novel Influenza in Birds or Animals Guideline, 
2018 (or as current); and the Management of Echinococcus Multilocularis Infections 
in Animals Guideline, 2018 (or as current). 

2) The board of health shall ensure that all veterinarians within its jurisdiction are aware 
of public health reporting requirements for animal cases of avian chlamydiosis, avian 
influenza, novel influenza and Echinococcus multilocularis infection, as well as 
potential rabies exposures, and disseminate detailed information, at least annually, 
about how these cases are to be reported to the board of health. 

3) Upon the receipt of a report of an animal case of avian chlamydiosis, avian influenza, 
novel influenza or Echinococcus multilocularis infection, the board of health shall 
notify the ministry. 

4) The board of health shall ensure that human and public health risks related to 
exposure to the infected animal(s) are effectively minimized by the appropriate 
management of the infected animal(s). 

5) The board of health shall consult with the ministry and any attending or primary care 
veterinarians to determine the most effective and appropriate management of the 
animal(s). In accordance with the Health Protection and Promotion Act, management 
of the animal(s) may include, but not be limited to: 
a) Ordering the isolation of the animal(s); 
b) Ordering the treatment of the animal(s); 
c) Ordering physical or laboratory diagnostic examinations of the animal(s); and 
d) Ordering the cleaning and disinfection of premises currently or previously housing 

the animal(s). 
6) The public health management of contacts of infected animals shall be comprised of, 

but not limited to: 
a) Contact management including, and where applicable: assessment of risk factors, 

exposures to infected animals, and the provision of disease prevention 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

16 

counseling, facilitation of chemoprophylaxis, immunization or immuno-globulin 
and/or advice to seek medical care and submission of clinical specimens; 

b) Identification of other human contacts of the infected animal, tracing and 
notification (where appropriate); 

c) Contact management including, and where applicable: the provision of disease 
prevention counseling, facilitation of chemoprophylaxis, immunization or immuno-
globulin and/or advice to seek medical care and submission of clinical specimens; 

d) Where warranted, inspection of premises or facilities where infected animals 
and/or disease transmission are suspected; and 

e) Reporting of human cases of infectious diseases to the ministry using iPHIS, CCM 
or any other method specified by the ministry, and in accordance with the 
reporting criteria for infectious diseases of public health significance set out in this 
protocol. 

Prevention and Management of Vector-Borne 
Diseases 
1) The board of health shall develop, implement, and review at least annually, an 

integrated vector-borne diseases management strategy based on local risk 
assessment and other scientific evidence with respect to effective and efficient 
prevention and control measures. 

2) The board of health shall conduct local West Nile virus risk assessments, on an 
annual basis, in accordance with the ministry’s West Nile Virus Preparedness and 
Prevention Plan, or as current.14 

3) The board of health shall develop an integrated vector-borne management plan 
comprised of: 
a) Vector surveillance, including surveillance of both mosquito and tick populations; 
b) Non-human host surveillance (when applicable); 
c) Human surveillance; 
d) Public education on personal preventive measures; and 
e) Vector control programs (e.g., larviciding and/or adulticiding) where required. 

4) The board of health shall promptly notify Trillium Gift-of-Life of any positive results of 
vector-borne diseases from humans with a history of organ donation or receipt. 

Exposure of Emergency Service Workers to 
Infectious Diseases 
1) The board of health shall have a medical officer of health or designate available on a 

24/7 basis to receive and respond to reports of infectious diseases of public health 
significance in accordance with this protocol to ensure that:  
a) Reports of a possible exposure of an ESW are received, assessed, and 

responded to as soon as possible, but not later than 48 hours (depending on 



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

17 

situation and disease, response may be required sooner) after receiving 
notification; and  

b) Reports of all infectious diseases of public health significance are received and
assessed, with particular consideration given to potential exposures of ESWs.

2) The board of health shall contact emergency services in their health unit and request
that they identify designated officers for their respective emergency service (i.e.,
police, firefighters, ambulance) in order to facilitate the exposure notification process.

3) The board of health* shall advise designated officers in their health unit regarding the
possible exposure of an ESW to an infectious disease of public health significance
when made aware by:
a) Having the medical officer of health or designate actively seek out contacts of

cases with infectious diseases of public health importance, even if a designated
officer has not contacted the medical officer of health or designate regarding the
possible exposure and no application has been made by an individual under the
MBTA;4

b) Informing the respective designated officer that an ESW might have been exposed
to an infectious disease of public health significance during his/her work. This is
not dependent on laboratory confirmation (e.g., the case can exhibit clinical signs
and symptoms of a particular infectious disease); and

c) Informing the designated officer regarding any specific actions to be taken based
on the designated officer’s report, including advising ESWs to seek medical
attention and the initiation of post-exposure prophylaxis if applicable.

4) When a designated officer makes an incident report of a possible exposure to an
infectious disease of public health significance to the board of health, the board of
health shall:
a) Review and assess the information provided;
b) Contact health care facilities and other persons (e.g., infection control practitioners

and/or attending physicians) to obtain additional information on the specific case,
as necessary, based on the assessment of the incident by the medical officer of
health, or designate; and

c) Inform the designated officer as soon as possible and no later than 48 hours after
receiving notification (depending on the disease) of advised actions to be taken,
including accessing medical care by the ESW.
i) Advice shall include, but is not limited to assessing the possible risk of

occupational exposure and setting standards of practice, appropriate use of
personal protective equipment, and training for employees to prevent possible
exposures; and

ii) Follow up with the designated officer to ascertain what action has been taken.

* A decision by the board of health to contact the designated officer can be made on a case-by case basis,
based on clinical assessment which could include, but is not limited to degree of risk, type of exposure, etc.



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

18 

5) In the event that there is a disagreement between the designated officer and the 
medical officer of health or designate regarding a possible exposure, the designated 
officer may refer the matter to the Chief Medical Officer of Health or designate. 

Glossary 
Designated officer: A person identified in an emergency service (i.e., police officer, 
firefighters, etc.) who is responsible for receiving and assessing reports regarding the 
possible exposure of an emergency service worker to an infectious disease of public 
health importance and then contacting the medical officer of health or designate. 
Emergency service worker: A person working in an emergency service (e.g., police, 
firefighters, etc.). 
Enhanced Surveillance Directive: PHO may issue enhanced surveillance directives for 
infectious diseases of public health significance in response to a variety of circumstances 
including, but not limited to: 

• Increased case reports of diseases of public health significance; 
• Reports of emerging disease(s); 
• Diseases with seasonal variation; and 
• Food contamination alerts. 

Each enhanced surveillance directives are mandatory when issued and will include the 
following: 

• Situation background and current status; 
• Start and end dates (if known); 
• Detailed data requirements; 
• Step-by-step guide for data entry into iPHIS or CCM; 
• Data field definitions; 
• Screenshots of data field locations; and 
• Information on whom to contact for assistance. 

Facility: In this protocol, facility includes facilities that are under the authority of the 
HPPA and/or its regulations and other facilities that are not regulated under the HPPA. 
Health Hazard: (a) a condition of a premises, (b) a substance, thing, plant or animal 
other than man, or (c) a solid, liquid, gas or combination of any of these, that has or that 
is likely to have an adverse effect on the health of any person.2 
Infection Prevention and Control (IPAC) Lapse: A lapse is defined as a failure to 
follow IPAC practice standards resulting in a risk of transmission of infectious diseases to 
clients, attendees or staff through exposure to blood, body fluids, secretions, excretions, 
mucous membranes, non-intact skin, or contaminated equipment and soiled items.  IPAC 
practice standards include the most current guidance available from the Provincial 
Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee, Public Health Ontario, the ministry, and any 
relevant Ontario regulatory college IPAC protocols and guidelines.   



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

19 

Infectious diseases of public health importance: Infectious diseases of public health 
importance include, but are not limited to; those specified as diseases of public health 
significance as set out by regulation under the HPPA and include zoonotic and vector-
borne diseases.15 Emerging infectious diseases may be considered of public health 
importance based on a variety of criteria, including their designation as an emerging 
disease by international, Federal, and/or Provincial/Territorial health authorities, their 
potential for preventability or public health action, and the seriousness of their impact on 
the health of the population and potential spread. 
Institution: In this protocol, institution has the same meaning as Section 21(1) of the 
HPPA.2 
Labstract: Labstracts provide important information to health care practitioners about 
clinical or operational changes in laboratory testing. These can include updates in 
specimen collection, handling, testing or interpretation. 
Reportable event: In this protocol, reportable event has the same meaning as Section 
38(1) of the HPPA.2 
Sporadic Cases: A sporadic case is an instance of disease which appears to be 
unrelated to a community or institutional outbreak. It can be one or more cases that do 
not share an epidemiological link. 
Surveillance: The continuous, systematic collection, analysis and interpretation of 
health-related data needed for the planning, implementation, and evaluation of public 
health practice. Such surveillance can: 

• serve as an early warning system for impending public health emergencies; 
• document the impact of an intervention, or track progress towards specified goals; 

and 
• monitor and clarify the epidemiology of health problems, to allow priorities to be 

set and to inform public health policy and strategies.16  



Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

20 

References 
1. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Ontario public health standards: 

requirements for programs, services, and accountability, 2018. Toronto, ON: 
Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018. Available from: 
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/default.
aspx 

2. Health Protection and Promotion Act, RSO 1990, c H.7. Available from: 
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/90h07 

3. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Population health assessment 
and surveillance protocol, 2018. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018. 
Available from: 
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocol
sguidelines.aspx  

4. Mandatory Blood Testing Act, 2006, SO 2006, c 26. Available from: 
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/06m26 

5. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Sexual health and sexually 
transmitted/blood-borne infections prevention and control protocol, 2018. Toronto, 
ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018. Available from: 
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocol
sguidelines.aspx  

6. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Rabies prevention and control 
protocol, 2018. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018. Available from:  
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocol
sguidelines.aspx  

7. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Tuberculosis prevention and 
control protocol, 2018. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018. Available 
from: 
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocol
sguidelines.aspx  

8. Child Care and Early Years Act, 2014, SO 2014, c 11, Sched 1. Available from: 
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/14c11 

9. REPORTS, RRO 1990, Reg 569. Available from: 
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/900569 

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/default.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/default.aspx
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/90h07
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/06m26
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/14c11
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/900569


Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2020 

21 

10. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Immunization for children in 
schools and licensed child care settings protocol, 2018. Toronto, ON: Queen's 
Printer for Ontario; 2018. Available from: 
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocol
sguidelines.aspx  

11. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Timely entry of cases and 
outbreaks. CCM Bulletin. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2012. 
Available through CCM Ontario Community on the eHealth Portal. 

12. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Infection prevention and control 
complaint protocol, 2018. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018. 
Available from: 
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocol
sguidelines.aspx  

13. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Infection prevention and control 
disclosure protocol, 2018. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018. 
Available from: 
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocol
sguidelines.aspx  

14. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. West Nile Virus preparedness 
and prevention plan. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2010. 

15. Specification of Reportable Diseases, O Reg 559/91. Available from: 
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/910559 

16. World Health Organization. Public health surveillance [Internet]. Geneva: World 
Health Organization; c2017 [cited 2017 Nov 15]. Available from: 
http://www.who.int/topics/public_health_surveillance/en/ 

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/protocolsguidelines.aspx
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/910559
http://www.who.int/topics/public_health_surveillance/en/


 

 
 

IS
B

N
 9

78
-1

-4
86

8-
07

58
-1

 P
D

F 
Q

ue
en

’s
 P

rin
te

r o
f O

nt
ar

io
 

 



                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

                                REPORT NO. 044-20  

 

 

TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 
 

FROM: Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health 
   

DATE:  2020 September 17 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

MEDICAL OFFICER OF HEALTH ACTIVITY REPORT FOR SEPTEMBER 
 

Recommendation 
 

It is recommended that the Board of Health receive Report No. 044-20 re: “Medical Officer of Health 

Activity Report for September” for information. 
 

 

 

The following report presents activities of the Medical Officer of Health (MOH) for the period  

July 6, 2020 to August 19, 2020. 

 

Throughout the summer, the MOH continued to participate in many external pandemic related meetings 

each week. These include calls daily, every other day, or weekly with Middlesex County, the City of 

London, local health partners, the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa), the Ministry of 

Health, Ontario Health West, the Southwest LHIN, the Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health, and 

Public Health Ontario, to name a few.  The MOH and London Mayor Ed Holder continue to provide 

COVID-19 virtual media briefings.   

 

The MOH and the Associate Medical Officer of Health (AMOH) continued to host a weekly MLHU Staff 

Town Hall during the summer weeks to present on many topics, including COVID-19.  

 

The following events were also attended by the MOH. 

 

July 6 Live interview with Craig Needles, AM980 CFPL in regard to interim changes to 

management at the Middlesex-London Health Unit 

 Meeting with the Auditor General of Ontario’s office in regard to a COVID-19 audit 

 

July 14  Interview with Jane Sims of the London Free Press in regard to COVID-19 

 

July 15  Met with City of London staff in regard to mandatory mask legislation 

  Live interview with Craig Needles, AM980 CFPL in regard to mandatory masking 

 

July 16  Follow-up meeting with City of London staff in regard to mask legislation 

  Met with Steven Hillier, Ward 14 City Councillor in regard to mask legislation 

  Attended the Governance and Board of Health meetings 

 

July 17  Met with Middlesex County Warden Burqhardt in regard to mask legislation  

  Met with City staff to discuss Mask legislation 

 

July 20  Met with Councillor Kayabaga to discuss Racism as a public health crisis 

 

July 21  Participated on the COMOH Executive Teleconference call   

 

July 22  Participated in the Middlesex Centre Council meeting in regard to the masking bylaw 

  Met virtually with Ms. Alexandra Kane in regard to Black Lives Matter 

 

 



2020 September 17 -  2  - Report No. 044-20 

 

  

July 30 Met with Ms. Maureen Cassidy, Mr. Robert Parker and Dr. Michael Clarke to discuss a 

potential development session for the Board of Health. 

 

July 31 Met virtually with Mr. Robert Parker to discuss personal coaching 

 

August 4 Check-in meeting with Ms. Maureen Cassidy 

 

August 5 Met with Ministry staff to discuss the Temporary Pandemic Pay Mid-Term Report-Back  

  Template 

 

August 6 Participated in a call with Windsor Essex Health Unit in regard to resources 

  Met with Mr. Paul Digby in regard to Black Lives Matter 

 

August 12 Met with Thames Valley District School Board staff regarding COVID-19 preparedness 

Participated in the Thames Valley District School Board (TVDSB) Public Health Q & A  

 session 

 

August 17 Hosted a Virtual Town Hall for residents of London and Middlesex to ask questions 

about COVID-19 

 

August 18 Call with Ms. Karen McKibbon in regard to the Provincial Case and Contact 

Management tool 

 

August 19 Call with the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario in regard to a request for 

information 

 

This report was submitted by the Office of the Medical Officer of Health. 

 

 
 

Christopher Mackie, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC 

Medical Officer of Health 



CORRESPONDENCE – September 2020 

 

a) Date: 2020 July 16 

Topic: Masks Indoors at Public Places 

From: Community Member 

To:  Board of Health, Middlesex-London Health Unit  

 

Background: 

 

On July 16, 2020, a community member wrote to the Middlesex-London Health Unit Board of Health 

urging leadership to influence mandating the use of masks in indoor public spaces in our community to 

help fight COVID-19.  

 

Recommendation: Receive. 

 

 

b) Date: 2020 July 16 

Topic: Endorsement of the Association of Local Public Health Agencies’ Response to the Public 

Health Modernization Discussion Paper 

From: Renfrew County and District Health Unit 

To:  Christine Elliott, Minister of Health 

 

Background: 

 

On July 16, 2020, the Board of Health for Renfrew County District Health Unit wrote to Minister Elliott 

in support of Haliburton, Kawartha, Pine Ridge District Health Unit’s endorsement of the Association of 

Local Public Health Agencies’ response to the Public Health Modernization Discussion Paper.  

 

Recommendation: Receive. 

 

c) Date: 2020 July 16 

Topic: Endorsement of correspondence regarding the 2020 Municipal Cost Share of Public 

Health Funding from Eastern Ontario Health Unit and correspondence regarding COVID-

19 and Reconsiderations Related to Public Health Modernization from the Association of 

Local Public Health Agencies 

From: Renfrew County and District Health Unit 

To:  Christine Elliott, Minister of Health 

 

Background: 

 

On July 16, 2020, the Board of Health for Renfrew County District Health Unit wrote to Minister Elliott 

in support of Haliburton, Kawartha, Pine Ridge District Health Unit’s endorsement of correspondence 

regarding the 2020 Municipal Cost Share of Public Health Funding from Eastern Ontario Health Unit. 

Renfrew County District Healthy Unit also endorses correspondence regarding COVID-19 and 

reconsiderations related to Public Health Modernization from the Association of Local Public Health 

Agencies. Refer to correspondence item h) in the July 16, 2020 Board of Health agenda.  

 

Recommendation: Receive. 

 

d) Date: 2020 July 16 

Topic: London needs mandatory indoor mask mandate 

https://www.healthunit.com/2020-07-16-boh-meeting-agenda


From: Community Member 

To:  Board of Health, Middlesex-London Health Unit  

 

Background: 

 

On July 16, 2020, a community member wrote to the Middlesex-London Health Unit Board of Health in 

support for a mandatory indoor mask mandate in the city of London.   

 

Recommendation: Receive. 

 

e) Date: 2020 July 16 

Topic: Mandatory masks – a request for thoughtful consideration and prompt action 

From: Community Member 

To:  Board of Health, Middlesex-London Health Unit  

 

Background: 

 

On July 16, 2020, a community member wrote to the Middlesex-London Health Unit Board of Health 

requesting that leadership influence mandating the use of masks in indoor public spaces in the community 

to help fight COVID-19.  

 

Recommendation: Receive. 

 

f) Date: 2020 July 16 

Topic: Mandatory masking from a home mask maker 

From: Community Member 

To:  Board of Health, Middlesex-London Health Unit  

 

Background: 

 

On July 16, 2020, a community member wrote to the Middlesex-London Health Unit Board of Health 

regarding mandating the use of masks in indoor public spaces.   

 

 

Recommendation: Receive. 

 

g) Date: 2020 July 17 

Topic: Make Masks Mandatory 

From: Community Member 

To:  Board of Health, Middlesex-London Health Unit  

 

Background: 

 

On July 17, 2020, a community member wrote to the Middlesex-London Health Unit Board of Health 

regarding the concern over not making a mandatory mask policy in all indoor public places in London-

Middlesex.  

 

Recommendation: Receive. 

 

h) Date: 2020 July 27 

Topic: Basic Income for Income Security during COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond 



From: Municipality of Chatham-Kent 

To: Prime Minister Justin Trudeau, Deputy Prime Minister Chrystia Freeland, and Minister 

Bill Mourneau 

 

Background: 

 

On July 27, 2020, the Board of Health for Chatham-Kent wrote to Prime Minister Trudeau, Minister 

Freeland and Minister Mourneau endorsing that the federal government transition the Canada Emergency 

Response Benefit (CERB) into basic income for all Canadians during the COVID-19 response and 

beyond. The Board recommends that immediate action be taken to evolve CERB into legislation as an 

effective long-term response to the issues of income security, poverty, food insecurity, and overall 

community health and well-being.  

 

Recommendation: Receive. 

 

i) Date: 2020 July 30 

Topic: The Decriminalization of Personal Possession of Illicit Drugs 

From: Municipality of Chatham-Kent 

To:  Honourable Patty Hajdu, Honourable David Lametti 

 

Background: 

 

On July 27, 2020, the Board of Health for Chatham-Kent wrote to Minister Hadju and Minister Lametti 

endorsing the decriminalization of personal possession of illicit drugs in pursuit of a public health 

approach to drug policy. The Board of Health for Chatham-Kent calls on the federal government to create 

a national task force to research drug policy reform.    

 

Recommendation: Receive. 

 

j) Date: 2020 August 19 

Topic: COVID-19 Extraordinary Expenses  

From: Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 

To:  Minister, Christine Elliott 

 

Background: 

 

On August 19, 2020, the Board of Health for Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit wrote to Minister 

Elliott requesting additional funding to enable the success of the local public health response to the 

pandemic. The Board of Health for Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit urges the immediate provision 

of the funding allocations to local boards of health regarding the COVID-19 Extraordinary Expenses and 

for the School-Focused Nurses in order to enable a response by local public health units that is 

unobstructed by local financial shortfalls.  

 

Recommendation: Receive. 

 

 



Renfrew County and District Health Unit 
"Optimal Health for All in Renfrew County and District" 

 

July 16, 2020 

The Honourable Christine Elliott 
Minister of Health 
777 Bay Street, 5th Floor 
Toronto, ON     M7A 2J3  
email: christine.elliottco@ola.org 

Dear Minister Elliott, 

Re: Endorsement of the Association of Local Public Health Agencies’ Response to the 
Public Health Modernization Discussion Paper 

At the Regular Board meeting held on June 30, 2020, the Board of Health for the 
Renfrew County and District Health Unit unanimously agreed to support the following 
motion by the Board of Health for the Haliburton, Kawartha, Pine Ridge District Health 
Unit:  

“THAT the Association of Local Public Health Agencies’ response to the Public Health 
Modernization Discussion Paper be endorsed and THAT a letter of support be sent to The 
Honourable Christine Elliott”.  

Sincerely, 

Chair, Board of Health 
Renfrew County and District Health Unit 

cc: Alison Blair, Executive Lead for Public Health Modernization 
Jim Pine, Special Advisor, Public Health Modernization 
Ontario Boards of Health 
Association of Local Public Health Agencies 



June 19, 2020 

The Honourable Christine Elliott  
Minister of Health  
5th Floor, 777 Bay St. 
Toronto, ON M7A 2J3  
(Sent via email to: christine.elliottco@ola.org) 

Dear Minister Elliott 

RE: Endorsement of the Association of Local Public Health Agencies’ Response to the Public Health Modernization Discussion Paper 

At its meeting held on June 18, 2020, the Board of Health for the Haliburton, Kawartha, Pine Ridge District Health Unit passed the 
following motion: 

“THAT the Association of Local Public Health Agencies’ response to the Public Health Modernization Discussion Paper be endorsed and 
THAT a letter of support be sent to The Honourable Christine Elliott”. 

Sincerely 

BOARD OF HEALTH FOR THE HALIBURTON,  
KAWARTHA, PINE RIDGE DISTRICT HEALTH UNIT 

Doug Elmslie 
Chair, Board of Health 

DE/aln/ed 

Cc (via email):  Alison Blair, Executive Lead for Public Health Modernization 
Jim Pine, Special Advisor, Public Health Modernization 
Ontario Boards of Health  
Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) 

Attachment 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 



1 

Renfrew County and District Health Unit 
"Optimal Health for All in Renfrew County and District" 

July 16, 2020 

The Honourable Christine Elliott  
Minister of Health  
5th Floor, 777 Bay Street 
Toronto, ON     M7A 2J3  
email: christine.elliottco@ola.org 

Dear Minister Elliott, 

Re: Endorsement of correspondence regarding the 2020 Municipal Cost Share of 
Public Health Funding from Eastern Ontario Health Unit and correspondence 
regarding COVID-19 and Reconsiderations Related to Public Health Modernization 
from the Association of Local Public Health Agencies 

At the Regular Board meeting held on June 30, 2020, the Board of Health for Renfrew 
County and District Health Unit agreed to support the following motion by the 
Haliburton, Kawartha, Pine Ridge District Health Unit (HKPR District Health Unit):  

“THAT the correspondence sent by the Eastern Ontario Health Unit to the Minister of 
Health regarding the 2020 Municipal Cost Share of Public Health Funding (attached), 
and the correspondence sent by the Association of Local Public Health Agencies to the 
Minister of Health requesting consideration of a pause on the Public Health 
Modernization initiative (attached) be endorsed; and THAT the provincial share of 
public health funding be reinstated to its previous level; and THAT a letter of support be 
sent to The Honourable Christine Elliott”.  

The Board of Health for Renfrew County and District Health Unit agrees with the Eastern 
Ontario Health Unit and the Association of Local Public Health Agencies that the Public 



2 

Health Modernization process should be deferred until after the COVID-19 response is 
examined and that public health funding should be restored to its previous level for 
2020.  

Sincerely,

Janice Visneskie Moore 
Chair, Board of Health 

cc: Dr. David Williams, Ontario Chief Medical Officer of Health 
Alison Blair, Executive Lead for Public Health Modernization 
Jim Pine, Special Advisor, Public Health Modernization 
Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) 
Ontario Boards of Health  
Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) 



 

June 19, 2020 
 
The Honourable Christine Elliott  
Minister of Health      
5th Floor, 777 Bay St. 
Toronto, ON M7A 2J3  
(Sent via email to: christine.elliottco@ola.org)  
 
Dear Minister Elliott 
 
RE: Endorsement of correspondence regarding the 2020 Municipal Cost Share of Public Health Funding from Eastern Ontario Health 
Unit and correspondence regarding COVID-19 and Reconsiderations Related to Public Health Modernization from the Association of 
Local Public Health Agencies 
 
At its meeting held on June 18, 2020, the Board of Health for the Haliburton, Kawartha, Pine Ridge District Health Unit (HKPR District 
Health Unit) passed the following motion: 
 
“THAT the correspondence sent by the Eastern Ontario Health Unit to the Minister of Health regarding the 2020 Municipal Cost Share 
of Public Health Funding (attached), and the correspondence sent by the Association of Local Public Health Agencies to the Minister of 
Health requesting consideration of a pause on the Public Health Modernization initiative (attached) be endorsed; and THAT the 
provincial share of public health funding be reinstated to its previous level; and THAT a letter of support be sent to The Honourable 
Christine Elliott”.  
 
The Board Health agrees with the Eastern Ontario Health Unit and the Association of Local Public Health Agencies that the Public 
Health Modernization process should be deferred until after the COVID-19 response is examined and that public health funding should 
be restored to its previous level for 2020. 
 
Sincerely 

 
BOARD OF HEALTH FOR THE HALIBURTON,  
KAWARTHA, PINE RIDGE DISTRICT HEALTH UNIT 

 
Doug Elmslie 
Chair, Board of Health 
DE/aln/ed 
   
Cc (via email):      Dr. David Williams, Ontario Chief Medical Officer of Health 

Alison Blair, Executive Lead for Public Health Modernization 
Jim Pine, Special Advisor, Public Health Modernization 
Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) 

                                Jennifer Moore, CAO, Northumberland County      
           Mike Rutter, Chief Administrative Officer, County of Haliburton                        

Ron Taylor, Chief Administrative Officer, City of Kawartha Lakes 
Ontario Boards of Health  
Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) 

Attachments: 2  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
August 19, 2020 
 
The Honourable Christine Elliott  
Deputy Premier  
Minister of Health and Long-Term Care  
Hepburn Block  
80 Grosvenor Street, 10th Floor  
Toronto, ON M7A 2C4 
 
Dear Minister Elliott: 
 
On behalf of the Board of Health for the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit I commend the 
provincial government for its leadership in bringing COVID-19 under control throughout Ontario. 
Through the definitive leadership of the provincial government, and with the concerted action 
of local public health units, Ontario has achieved a cumulative incidence of disease that is less 
than half of our neighbouring states, and a daily incidence at present that is less than 10% of 
theirs. The rapid action of the province putting in place public health measures in March, and 
their careful withdrawal since that time have been essential to our success. Also essential has 
been the redirection of almost all the resources within local health units to enable the timely 
identification of cases and their contacts for home isolation, management of outbreaks in 
workplaces, Long Term-Care facilities and retirement homes, and the provision of guidance and 
direction to municipalities, businesses, organizations and the general public supporting physical 
distancing, hand hygiene, and face coverings. All of these actions have enabled our communities 
to flatten the curve without which we would have had the same experience as our neighbouring 
jurisdictions to the south. 
 
Local public health units, with the leadership of their boards of health, are completely dedicated 
to the successful control of COVID-19 moving forward until our provision of mass vaccination 
and with it the hoped-for end to the pandemic. If necessary, we will continue this struggle for 
years.  
 
In order to continue to be successful, additional resources are needed, and the promise of 
additional resources by the province has been very much appreciated. This includes the $100 
million to public health communicated earlier in the year (the COVID-19 Extraordinary 
Expenses), and recently the $50 million (500 nurses) for the public health support to the 
recommencement of the schools (the School-Focused Nurses).  
 
This additional funding will be essential to enable the success of the local public health response 
to the pandemic; however, its timely provision is also critical to our success. Through 
communication with Ministry of Health staff we have learned that the COVID-19 Extraordinary 
Expenses will be provided late in 2020 as reimbursement for extraordinary expenditures related 
to the pandemic response. This approach requires boards of health to take on these 
expenditures throughout the year without certainty as to the actual amount that they will be 
reimbursed. Some boards do not have reserve funds, and others have depleted their reserves 



  

already in their response (including our Board of Health). Without the provision of the funds at 
this time, these boards will not be able to maintain the level of their response needed to fully 
control COVID-19. In addition, the boards have been instructed to proceed with hiring the 
additional School-Focused Nurses without having the additional funding at this time required to 
do so; those boards that do not have remaining reserve funds will not be in a position to do so 
until they receive these additional funds.  
 
Local public health has performed extraordinary work with the province to flatten the curve, 
and to enable the opening of the economy and soon the school system. This is a critical time for 
us all as we strive to maintain these achievements while avoiding a resurgence of cases that 
would threaten these gains. Therefore, the Board of Health urges the immediate provision of 
the funding allocations to local boards of health regarding the COVID-19 Extraordinary Expenses 
and for the School-Focused Nurses in order to enable a response by local public health units that 
is unobstructed by local financial shortfalls.  
 
Thank you for your consideration of this request, and for your exemplary leadership.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
ORIGINAL Signed By: 
 
Anita Dubeau, Chair 
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit Board of Health 
 
AD:CG:cm 
 
cc.  Dr. David Williams, Chief Medical Officer of Health 
 Loretta Ryan, Executive Director, Association of Local Public Health Agencies 
 Ontario Boards of Health 

Mayor and Council of Simcoe and Muskoka 
Members of Provincial Parliament for Simcoe and Muskoka 

  
 
 







www.ckpublichealth.com 

Municipality of Chatham-Kent 
CK Public Health 
PO Box 1136, 435 Grand Avenue West, Chatham, ON  N7M 5L8 
Tel: 519.352.7270    Fax: 519.352.2166 
Email ckpublichealth@chatham-kent.ca 

July 27, 2020 

The Right Honourable Justin Trudeau, P.C., MP 
Prime Minister of Canada 
Office of the Prime Minister 
80 Wellington Street Ottawa, ON K1A 0A2  
Sent via email: justin.trudeau@parl.gc.ca  

The Honourable Chrystia Freeland, P.C., M.P. 
Deputy Prime Minister  
Privy Council Office 
Room 1000  
80 Sparks Street Ottawa, ON K1A 0A3  
Sent via email: chrystia.freeland@parl.gc.ca  

The Honourable Bill Morneau, P.C., M.P. 
Minister of Finance 
90 Elgin Street, 17th Floor 
Ottawa, ON K1A 0G5 
Sent via email:  bill.morneau@parl.gc.ca  

Dear Prime Minister Trudeau, Deputy Prime Minister Freeland, and Minister Morneau: 

RE: Basic Income for Income Security during COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond 

At its meeting held on June 17, 2020, the Chatham-Kent Board of Health received 
correspondence to the federal government from Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit, dated 
May 20, 2020, Timiskaming Health Unit, dated June 9, 2020, Haliburton, Kawartha, Pine Ridge 
District Health Unit, dated June 19, 2020. These letters request that the federal government 
transition the Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB) into a basic income for all 
Canadians during the COVID-19 response and beyond. The Board also endorses the May 11, 
2020 resolution by the City of Kitchener to establish a universal basic income. 

Income is one of the strongest predictors of health, and it makes sense that focusing on 
population health interventions to address socioeconomic factors will impact health outcomes 
far greater than individual focused interventions.  

…/2 

mailto:justin.trudeau@parl.gc.ca
mailto:chrystia.freeland@parl.gc.ca
mailto:bill.morneau@parl.gc.ca


Page 2 of 2 Basic Income for Income Security during COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond 
July 27, 2020 

Previous to COVID-19, Chatham-Kent residents have experienced lower median household 
incomes, higher rates of poverty (with more than one in four children living in low income), lower 
rates of post-secondary education, higher proportions of the population working in lower wage 
manufacturing, retail, and service occupations, as well as higher rates of lone-parent families, 
seniors, and people living alone. Socio-economic factors vary across the Municipality with some 
communities and neighbourhoods facing a higher degree of material deprivation than others. An 
examination of local chronic disease health inequities has shown significantly higher rates of 
chronic disease-related health care utilization and death in the most materially deprived areas 
compared to the least deprived areas of Chatham-Kent. Annual analysis of the local cost of a 
nutritious food basket has continued to illustrate how little money a family of four on a social 
assistance budget would have left to cover the costs of childcare, rural transportation, and other 
basic needs, after paying for shelter and healthy food. Furthermore, the most recent calculation 
of Chatham-Kent’s living wage well exceeded $16 per hour, and local costs of living have 
increased since that time. 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we can anticipate the exacerbation of existing 
disparities, creating an even wider gap between those with opportunity and those without. Local 
concerns around homelessness, poverty, food insecurity, transportation, mental health and 
addictions, child and partner violence, and the needs of Indigenous people have been amplified. 

The Board strongly recommends your government take immediate action to evolve CERB into 
legislation for a basic income as an effective long-term response to the issues of income 
security, poverty, food insecurity, and overall community health and well-being. 

Sincerely, 

Joe Faas 
Chair, Chatham-Kent Board of Health 

C: Honourable Doug Ford, Premier of Ontario  
Dr. David Williams, Chief Medical Officer of Health  
Pegeen Walsh, Executive Director, Ontario Public Health Association 
Association of Local Public Health Agencies  
Ontario Boards of Health 
Honourable Dave Epp, MP, Chatham-Kent-Leamington 
Honourable Rick Nicholls, MPP, Chatham-Kent-Leamington 
Honourable Monte McNaughton, MPP, Lambton-Kent-Middlesex 
Chatham-Kent Municipal Council 



1

Elizabeth Milne

From:

Sent: Friday, July 17, 2020 7:59 AM

To: Elizabeth Milne

Subject: Make Masks Mandatory

Attention Ms.Milne, 
 
Please circulate this email to all MLHU Board Of Health Members. 
Thank you. 
 

 
 
 
 
Dear Ms. Cassidy and MLHU Board of Health, 
 
I am writing to express my concern around the July 2 COVID Order from the MLHU and why the Mayor, City Council, the 
Warden, Middlesex County Council and the MLHU Board of Health are siding with Dr. Mackie in NOT making a mandatory mask 
policy in all indoor public places, as many other municipalities across Ontario have ordered. 
 
Dr. Mackie's and Mr. Holder's recommendation that we wear masks in public indoor places is not working.  For example, the 
staff at Food Basics, Commissioners Rd. West where I often shop, do not wear masks.  While there this week, a shopper 
standing beside me sneezed.  I suggested to her that she should wear a mask.  She answered, "I only sneezed once."  With 
airborne COVID-19 spread now seen as very possible, I became anxious.  When shopping at Tuckey's Home Hardware my 
husband never sees their staff wearing masks.  He notes many younger shoppers don't wear masks either.  While shopping at 
Metro in Byron a week ago I had to jump back against the canned goods shelf behind me to get farther away from an unmasked 
young mom with her baby and stroller as she ambled by me, not adhering to the 6 feet social distancing requirement.  A 
friend has stopped shopping at Remark as their staff do not wear masks and don't social distance as the aisles there are quite 
narrow. 
 
About 5 weeks ago Rebecca Zandbergen on CBC Radio's London Morning program questioned  Dr. Brian Fisman, Professor of 
Epidemiology at the University of Toronto Dalla Lana School of Public Health on Dr. Mackie's lukewarm stance to the 
seriousness of COVID-19 and the need to introduce precautionary measures.  Dr. Fisman said, "He has some funny ideas.  He 
needs to start looking at the data." 
 
Dr. Mackie said that "If we do reach higher disease levels at or near the peak levels we saw in April then we will certainly 
reconsider the order to more, all the way up to indoor spaces."   Dr. Mackie's reactionary timing will put more medical front line 
workers in jeopardy and would cause those with cancelled elective surgeries to anxiously wait longer as more COVID-19 cases 
fill hospital beds.  
 
Mandating mandatory masks in London-Middlesex is the right thing to do as an added proactive and precautionary layer to help 
us not go back to lockdown as we open up the economy and prepare for Stage 3. Going back to lockdown would increase the 
City's and Middlesex County's already high debt load.  Please don't be so short sighted.  We can't rule out a second wave.   
 
I look forward to your response. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 

 
 

 



1

Elizabeth Milne

From:

Sent: Thursday, July 16, 2020 10:52 PM

To: Elizabeth Milne

Subject: Mandatory masks - a request for thoughtful consideration and prompt action

Dear Ms. Milne, 

 

Could you kindly forward this strong request to the Middlesex London Health Unit Board Members at your earliest 

convenience? 

 

Your cooperation is highly appreciated. 

 

Dear Board Members of the Middlesex London Health Unit: 

 
I am contacting you to ask that you use your leadership to influence mandating the use of masks in indoor public 
spaces in our community to help fight COVID-19. This is especially crucial now, as we begin Stage 3 of reopening 
businesses.  

There is enough evidence that masks can limit the spread of droplets and aerosols entering into the surrounding 
environment. Health Canada, the CDC, and the WHO have long recommended the use of masks in places where physical 
distancing is difficult, such as inside stores.  

The Middlesex-London Health Unit (MLHU) is among only a few regions (of the 34 Health Units in Ontario), to not 
mandate this essential safety measure. Currently in London masks are only ‘recommended’.  This approach to masking is 
not working, as not enough Londoners are wearing them. This poses an increased risk for our entire community. 

We appreciate that currently our COVID-19 numbers are low, but we need to be proactive and do all that we can to keep 
them that way, especially as we enter Stage 3. 

 

Sincerely, 

  

 

  



1

Elizabeth Milne

From:

Sent: Thursday, July 16, 2020 3:13 PM

To: Elizabeth Milne

Subject: Masks indoors at public places

Dear Ms. Milne: I am contacting you to ask that you use your leadership to influence mandating the 
use of masks in indoor public spaces in our community to help fight COVID-19. This is especially 
crucial now, as we begin Stage 3 of reopening businesses.  
There is enough evidence that masks can limit the spread of droplets and aerosols entering into the 
surrounding environment. Health Canada, the CDC, and the WHO have long recommend the use of 
masks in places where physical distancing is difficult, such as inside stores.  

The Middlesex-London Health Unit (MLHU) is among only a few regions (of the 34 Health Units in 
Ontario), to not mandate this essential safety measure. Currently in London masks are only 
‘recommended’.  This approach to masking is not working, as not enough Londoners are wearing 
them. This poses an increased risk for our entire community. 

We appreciate that currently our COVID-19 numbers are low, but we need to be proactive and do all 
that we can to keep them that way, especially as we enter Stage 3. 
Please forward to all Board Members. Thank you. 
 

 
 



1

Elizabeth Milne

From:

Sent: Thursday, July 16, 2020 8:19 AM

To: Elizabeth Milne

Subject: London needs mandatory indoor mask mandate

Dear Ms Milne, 
 
Please pass this message to the Board members of the London Health Unit:  London needs a mandatory 
indoor mask mandate. 
 
Taiwan, with a population of almost 24 million people, has had only 7 deaths from COVID 19 since January 
because everyone wears a mask indoors, and whenever social distancing is not possible; along with other 
protocols.  There is need for protection, not lack of it.  The statistics are clear in Canada, and around the 
world.   Where masks are NOT worn, the disease spreads.  
 
What benefit can there be to not placing this protocol in place?  This concerned citizen requests a mandatory 
indoor mask mandate. 
 
Thank you for your consideration of this serious concern. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 

 
 
 
  



1

Elizabeth Milne

From:

Sent: Thursday, July 16, 2020 12:03 AM

To: Elizabeth Milne

Subject: Mandatory masking from a home mask maker

Dear Elizabeth Milne, 

Could you please ensure that my email (below) is forwarded to ALL Board members of the Middlesex-London Health 

Unit. Thank you in advance. 

 

------------------------------ 

Dear Middlesex-London Health Unit Board Members, 

I was disappointed to learn on the news tonight that Dr. Chris Mackie is only recommending the use of masks in indoor 

public spaces instead of mandating them. I started making masks early on and have a special interest in watching people 

everywhere I go to see if they are abiding by this recommendation. I would say that they are not. Now that we are set to 

enter Stage 3 there will be an increased risk for Londoners, particularly at a time when many are becoming more 

complacent due to fatigue and a false sense of security, particularly the young. 

Worldwide, the general recommendation to wear masks was a long time coming despite how obvious it seemed that it 

helped reduce coronavirus emissions. Just think where we might have been in the pandemic had people been 

encouraged to wear them earlier. In the same way, I think the time is already here to make masking mandatory in the 

London area, not down the road after the inevitable spikes increase suffering for people (and affect the economy if 

things had to tighten up again).  

Please bring your influence to bear on Dr. Mackie to change his recommendation to an official mandate to help keep us 

safe. Lives depend on this measure. 

Thank you for your time, 

Sincerely, 

 

 


	000 BOH Agenda September 17.pdf
	2020-07-16-boh-meeting-minutes
	2020-07-29-boh-special-meeting-minutes
	2020-09-10-special-boh-meeting-minutes
	2020-09-10-ffc-meeting-minutes
	2020-09-17-report-040-20
	2020-09-17-report-041-20
	2020-09-17-report-041-20-appendix-a
	2020-09-17-report-041-20-appendix-b
	2020-09-17-report-042-20
	2020-09-17-report-043-20
	2020-09-17-report-044-20
	2020-09-17-correspondence
	Letter of support--alPHa response to the discussion paper
	Letter of support for EOHUs and alPHAs correspondence
	200819 Letter to Minister Elliott Funding HUs during COVID-19
	decriminalization letter
	CK Public Health Basic Income Letter
	07-17-2020-letter-toBOH-1_Redacted.pdf
	07-16-2020-letter-toBOH-2_Redacted
	07-16-2020-letter-toBOH-3_Redacted
	07-16-2020-letter-toBOH-4_Redacted
	07-16-2020-letter-toBOH-5_Redacted

	2020-09-17-report-043-20-appendix-a.pdf
	Infectious Diseases Protocol 2020_ OCMOH - Sept4.pdf
	Preamble
	Purpose
	Reference to the Standards
	Operational Roles and Responsibilities
	Interpretation, Use and Communication of Infectious Disease Surveillance Data
	Reporting of Infectious Diseases
	Interpretation and Application of Surveillance Data
	Public Health On-Call System
	Management of Infectious Diseases – Sporadic Cases
	Investigation and Management of Infectious Diseases Outbreaks
	Prevention and Management of Zoonotic Diseases
	Prevention and Management of Vector-Borne Diseases
	Exposure of Emergency Service Workers to Infectious Diseases

	Glossary
	References





